
 

*Please Note:  All Action Items are for Council’s consideration and are considered as drafts 
until voted on by Council and signed by the Mayor and certified by the Clerk. 

 

 
TOWN OF DAYTON 

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS DAYTON TOWN HALL 

Monday, August 9, 2021 
6:00 PM 

 
AGENDA 

 
1. Call to Order          Mayor Jackson  

a. Roll Call by Clerk 
b. Invocation          
c. Pledge of Allegiance 

 
2. Public Hearing:  Franchise Agreement / Bid Acceptance 

 
3. Approval of Minutes for Regular Town Council Meeting of July 12, 2021. 

 
4. Action Items*  

a. Consideration of an Ordinance Granting a 20-yr Franchise Agreement with 
Shenandoah Cable Television, LLC (glofiber) 

b. Consideration of Revision to Chapter 3.1.2 Sewer Ordinance of Title 6 of the     
Dayton Town Code 

c. Appointment Action 
 

5. Staff Reports  
a. Town Manager       Ms. Lawrence  
b. Treasurer/Financial Report      Ms. Smith 
c. Police Department       Chief Trout 
d. Public Works        Ms. Lawrence 
e. Water         Ms. Lawrence 
f. Community Development      Ms. Hall 
g. Economic Development      Ms. Lawrence 
h. Town Attorney       Mr. Bowman 

 
6. Committee Reports  

a. Economic & Community Development     Mr. Dyjak 
b. Finance            Mr. Rodgers 
c. Infrastructure         Mr. Dyjak 
d. Parks, Recreation & Beautification     Mr. Rodgers 
e. Personnel         Ms. Hoover 
f. Police          Ms. Hoover 
g. Mayor and Council 

 
7. Unfinished Business 

 
8. New Business  

 



Dayton Town Council 
Meeting Agenda 
August 9, 2021 

Page 2 
 

 

 
 
 

9. Public Comment 
 

10. Closed Session—In accordance with Section 2.2-3711(A)(1) of the Virginia Code for 
discussion, or interviews of prospective candidates for employment; assignment, appointment, 
promotion, performance, demotion, salaries, disciplining, or resignation of specific public 
officers, appointees, or employees of the Town Council.  The subject matter of the closed 
session is the performance and possible reprimand of a specific public officer.  
 

11. Adjournment 



DTC Regular Meeting 7-12-21 Minutes Page 1 

TOWN OF DAYTON 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS, DAYTON TOWN HALL 
July 12, 2021 

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT:  Mayor Cary Jackson, Dale Rodgers, Bradford Dyjak, 
Heidi Hoover, Robert Seward, Emily Estes, and Susan Mathias. 

ALSO PRESENT:  Angela Lawrence, Town Manager; Jordan Bowman, Town Attorney; Justin 
Trout, Police Chief; Susan Smith, Town Treasurer; and Christa Hall, Clerk of Council and 
Community Development Coordinator. 

CALL TO ORDER:   Mayor Jackson called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m., welcomed guests 
and reminded everyone that if there is anyone in attendance who wishes to address Council, there 
is a signup sheet in order to do so and that we will limit each speaker to five minutes each.  Town 
Clerk Hall called the roll.  Mayor Jackson led the Invocation and the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Mayor Jackson addressed some concerns that had recently come to his attention to include the 
reasoning associated with the change in meeting times, which took place in July of 2019.  He 
also provided an explanation of the process of how meetings work and how changes and 
ordinances are made, which begins with Council asking for staff assistance to research topics to 
bring to Council for their consideration and discussion at Council meetings.  Meeting agenda 
packets are shared with Council and on the Town’s website for public viewing almost 
instantaneously.  He further explained that ordinances and resolutions that come before Council 
at their meetings are not considered adopted and final until the Council has a discussion and a 
proper motion is made and passed and Councilmembers are encouraged to vote with their hearts 
and minds and not just with the majority.  Finally, Mayor Jackson stated that Council and staff 
are making every effort to be as transparent as possible to the public. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  Councilperson Dyjak made a motion to approve the minutes as 
written for the Regular Council Meeting of June 14, 2021; the motion was seconded by 
Councilperson Rodgers and approved by a roll call vote of 7 to 0, the voting recorded as follows: 
RODGERS—AYE; DYJAK—AYE; HOOVER—AYE; SEWARD—AYE; ESTES—AYE; 
MATHIAS—AYE; JACKSON—AYE. 

ACTION ITEM: CONSIDERATION OF THE REVISED FAÇADE GRANT:  Mayor 
Jackson asked Manager Lawrence for a staff report, which she provided.  The façade grant is 
included in this year’s budget in the amount of $10,000.  Staff suggested revisions to the 
program to set clear criteria, to make it competitive, and to ensure public funds are spent in the 
best manner.  Staff further suggests that the funds be administered by the Economic 
Development Authority (EDA), with the Town Manager and Economic Development 
Coordinator administering the program.  Manager Lawrence also stated that there were unused 
funds left from the FY21 budget and staff is requesting that Council allow those funds to carry 
over to the FY22 budget for the same purpose.   

Page 1



DTC Regular Meeting 7-12-21 Minutes Page 2 

Councilperson Dyjak, Chair of the Economic & Community Development Committee, added 
that these changes were made simply to tweak and streamline the application process.  This will 
clarify the guidelines and make the process easier for both the applicant and the reviewers to 
know what to expect.  He further stated that it makes sense to move the program administration 
over to the Economic Development Authority, as the Council has vetted all their qualifications 
and they are capable of handling the process. 

Mayor Jackson stated that he would like to extend the review time on the application to 10 days 
or two weeks to allow more time for the review. 

Councilperson Estes asked if the Council was supposed to vote on all monies and stated that she 
feels that the applications should remain with the Council.  She asked about the new policy 
requiring payback of grant funds if the façade is not maintained for three years and where those 
funds will go if they are returned.  She continued on to state that this was contradicting the 
earlier text that stated that this money will not have to be repaid. 

Town Attorney Jordan Bowman explained that before any Town money is spent, the Council 
must appropriate the funds, so in this instance, the Council would appropriate the funds for the 
façade grant program to the EDA and then the EDA would make the decisions on whom to 
award grants to.  He further explained that typically when a governmental entity is giving money 
to private businesses, it is generally done through an EDA rather than the governing body 
making decisions among private business owners.  Usually the governing body only awards 
grants to non-profits.   

Manager Lawrence further explained the history of the grant application and how the payback 
requirement would work, which is to ensure the public that their taxpayer dollars are not being 
wasted and are being used to enhance the downtown.  This is typical grant language. 

Councilperson Estes stated that she was not comfortable turning the program over the EDA and 
prefers that Council maintain the administration of the grant.  Councilperson Dyjak stated that if 
issues arise, Council can reevaluate the process and make changes as required.   

Discussion continued to include revisions to the façade grant to extend the promised review time 
of applications to two weeks, to lower the maximum grant funding allowance to $2,500, that 
Council will rollover any monies not spent to the next fiscal year, and a clarification to the 
possible payback of funds if the façade is not properly maintained. 

Councilperson Dyjak made a motion to adopt the revised façade grant application including an 
amount not greater than $2,500; that all funds from the existing year not spent will rollover for 
future façade grants; minor changes, including dates and not major application changes can be 
made by staff, not with Council approval; and moving the terminology about payback to the 
bottom of page 14 [of the Agenda packet] and they will be notified within fourteen days and the 
EDA will now administer the program.  The motion was seconded by Councilperson Hoover.  
Mayor Jackson asked if there was any discussion.  As there was no additional discussion, the 

Page 2



DTC Regular Meeting 7-12-21 Minutes Page 3 

motion was approved by a roll call vote of 6 to 1, the voting recorded as follows: RODGERS—
AYE; DYJAK—AYE; HOOVER—AYE; SEWARD—AYE; ESTES—NAY; MATHIAS—
AYE; JACKSON—AYE. 

Councilperson Rodgers made a motion to appropriate $10,000 to the Economic Development 
Authority to be spent on façade grants and any monies not spent from the previous fiscal year 
will be rolled over to the subsequent year.  The motion was seconded by Councilperson Dyjak. 
The motion was approved by a roll call vote of 6 to 1, the voting recorded as follows: 
RODGERS—AYE; DYJAK—AYE; HOOVER—AYE; SEWARD—AYE; ESTES—NAY; 
MATHIAS—AYE; JACKSON—AYE.  

ACTION ITEM: CONSIDERATION OF THE ORDINANCE REGULATING YARD 
SALES:   Manager Lawrence was asked to provide a staff report and clarified that the Council 
will be hearing public comment on this action item prior to voting.  Manager Lawrence stated 
that she has heard comments from festival vendors who felt that if they have to pay for their 
event spots and adhere to strict rules and regulations as to what items can be sold, then the Town 
should not allow people in the town to sell things outside of their business or outside of those 
same parameters.  In an effort to address this concern, we approved an itinerant merchant’s fee 
last year.  However, this was proven difficult to enforce during the Redbud Festival during 
which, there were two yard sales set up along the festival route and one of those was selling 
items that could be described as retail rather than yard sale items.  They were selling water that 
they had purchased and selling items that they had purchased at an auction for resale, which 
would qualify them as an itinerant merchant.  There has been some talk for a while now about 
having a yard sale ordinance and Manager Lawrence had understood that the Town had such an 
ordinance in place some time ago, but was advised by the Attorney that this was not the case.  
This matter was discussed as part of the Town Manager report at the June Council meeting and 
staff was going to investigate an ordinance to prohibit sales outside of the festivals.  We looked 
at other ordinances in small towns in the area and added the item to include only the portion of 
College Street and Main Street along the festival route for Redbud, Dayton Days and the 
Muddler, which we can remove.  At this point, Manager Lawrence turned discussion over to the 
Attorney for further clarification.  Attorney Bowman advised that he assisted Town staff in 
drafting the yard sale ordinance and they looked at many other jurisdictions and that there are 
several jurisdictions that have similar rules in place.  He stated that the limitation of two yard 
sales per year was something that was added in not knowing what Council might want and 
offered as something for Council to discuss and consider.  Attorney Bowman stated that he did 
not mean to generate the opposition that this has generated and offered his apologies to the 
public and to Council.  We didn’t know what the exact limitation would be and will leave that to 
Council for their decision.   

Mayor Jackson asked for a motion to adopt the Ordinance Regulating Yard Sales as presented.  
Councilperson Estes replied so moved.  The motion was seconded by Councilperson Mathias.  
Mayor Jackson asked if there was any discussion amongst Council. 

Page 3



DTC Regular Meeting 7-12-21 Minutes Page 4 

Councilperson Estes brought up her concerns that the ordinance pertained to more than just the 
festivals, which is what she thought was the intention.  She stated that the Town is not an HOA 
and feels this ordinance is too restrictive.  She stated that she has heard from several residents 
who are upset about the yard sale restrictions and should be allowed to be heard.  She further 
stated that imposing rules like these make people not want to live here and makes them want to 
leave.  After a very heated and expressive statement against the ordinance, Councilperson Estes 
exited from the meeting at 6:46 p.m. and returned at 6:50 p.m. 

Mayor Jackson stated that the residents need to allow the Council to have a discussion on the 
matter and allow them to do their jobs and then the residents will be allowed to speak.  He 
further stated that he and the Council agree that the limitation of two yard sales per year is not 
enough and that it needs to be more, six seems to be a good number.   Councilperson Estes stated 
that due to COVID, there should not be any limitations to yard sales and people need to be 
allowed to make money how they can and that it is a free enterprise.   Councilperson Dyjak 
stated that the Council asked for a recommendation on a specific issue pertaining to festival days 
and not to limit the number of yard sales that people may have.  He stated that the ordinance 
needs to be tailored to fit Dayton and focus on the one issue of festival days and take out the 
other items that are not necessary.  He stated that the Council is here to represent their neighbors 
as best as they can and that this is to be considered a dialogue, not a dictatorship.   

Mayor Jackson said that when the Council asks staff to research something and bring 
information back to them, many times staff will bring back more than they have requested to 
allow for Council to review and consider.  Subsequently, when items go to legal counsel, they 
are thorough in what they do and send back for Council’s consideration.  Councilperson Rodgers 
stated that when he and the rest of the Council read the proposed ordinance, they had the same 
reaction as the residents did.  He stated that he hopes that everyone can understand that they are 
also citizens of Dayton, not dictators.  He further stated that the legal counsel drafted this 
ordinance based on what other localities are using.  Councilperson Mathias asked to be 
recognized to speak.  She stated that she too is still learning the process of how things work.  She 
continued by saying that she works in Human Resources and often times her bosses will come to 
her and ask for information.  She strives to give them more information than they requested and 
they will give responses back to her with their revisions and she compared that process to this 
one.  She finished by stating that she applauds staff and legal counsel for doing their due 
diligence by researching and going above and beyond to provide information to the Council.  She 
stated that her opinion on the subject is that if there has not been a problem in the past with 
habitual yard sales then she doesn’t feel that we need an ordinance to address that matter.   

Councilperson Estes stated that maybe we should look at grandfathering in the residents who 
have always held yard sales during event days.  Manager Lawrence stated that her understanding 
was that a yard sale ordinance would be difficult to enforce if it only applied to event days and 
asked the attorney if they could only adopt that portion of the draft ordinance.  Attorney 
Bowman stated that each item within the ordinance can function independently and they can 
remove and adopt whatever policy that Council desires.  Councilperson Seward added that he 
feels that the ordinance should only apply to the two festival days and that perhaps we should 

Page 4



DTC Regular Meeting 7-12-21 Minutes Page 5 

look at imposing a citizen/resident vendor fee if they wish to set up on one of those days and not 
impose limits on what they can sell.  He feels that the Council can come to a mutually agreeable 
compromise that can be a win for everyone.   

At this point, Mayor Jackson opened up the floor to hear citizen comments.  He stated that there 
were ten people signed up to speak and each person would be allowed five minutes to speak.  
Many comments were made along with suggestions and requests on how the ordinance should be 
revised.  It was also requested that in the future, draft documents be more clearly identified to 
increase the public’s understanding.  Manager Lawrence suggested that Council direct staff to 
come back with a new policy, but asked for clarification and direction on what they want.  
Mayor Jackson asked that it be sent to the Economic and Community Development Committee 
for discussion and for that committee to bring it back to Council for further discussion.  Mayor 
Jackson stated that he appreciates everyone’s attendance and participation at the meeting.   

After a lengthy discussion and after hearing several citizens speak against the ordinance, the 
motion was denied by a roll call vote of 0 to 7, the voting recorded as follows: RODGERS—
NAY; DYJAK—NAY; HOOVER—NAY; SEWARD—NAY; ESTES—NAY; MATHIAS—
NAY; JACKSON—NAY.   

ACTION ITEM: CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION TO ADOPT THE CENTRAL 
SHENANDOAH HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN 2020 UPDATE:  Mayor Jackson asked 
Manager Lawrence for a staff report.  Manager Lawrence stated that this was a lengthy update 
process by the CSPDC.  The last update was done in 2013.  It is required by all localities to be 
adopted.  Councilperson Mathias made a motion to adopt the Resolution adopting the Central 
Shenandoah Hazard Mitigation Plan 2020 Update as presented.  The motion was seconded by 
Councilperson Seward.  Mayor Jackson asked if there was any discussion.  After hearing none, 
the motion was approved by a roll call vote of 7 to 0, the voting recorded as follows: 
RODGERS—AYE; DYJAK—AYE; HOOVER—AYE; SEWARD—AYE; ESTES—AYE; 
MATHIAS—AYE; JACKSON—AYE.  The resolution reads as follows: 

RESOLUTION OF TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF DAYTON, VIRGINIA 
Adoption of the Central Shenandoah Hazard Mitigation Plan 2020 Update 

WHEREAS, the Dayton Town Council recognizes the threat that natural and man-made hazards 
pose to people within the Town of Dayton, and  

WHEREAS, the Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000, as amended, requires that local governments 
develop and adopt natural hazard mitigation plans in order to receive certain federal assistance and update 
these plans; and 

WHEREAS, the Central Shenandoah Hazard Mitigation Plan (CSHMP) identifies mitigation 
strategies to reduce or eliminate long-term risk to people and property in our community and in the Central 
Shenandoah Region from the impacts of future hazards and disasters; and  

Page 5



DTC Regular Meeting 7-12-21 Minutes Page 6 

WHEREAS, the CSHMP Steering Committee representing the 21 local jurisdictions of the Central 
Shenandoah Planning District convened in order to review the original Plan and study the Region’s risks 
from and vulnerability to natural hazards, and to make recommendations on mitigating the effects of such 
hazards on the Region; and 

WHEREAS, the Steering Committee was provided with a staff support by the Central Shenandoah 
Planning District Commission; and 

WHEREAS, the efforts of the Steering Committee, the staff of the Central Shenandoah Planning 
District Commission, as well as members of the public, private, and nonprofit sectors, have resulted in the 
development of the 2020 Update of the Central Shenandoah Hazard Mitigation Plan for the Region; and 

WHEREAS, the Central Shenandoah Regional Wildfire Community Protection Plan (CSRWPP) 
is an annex to the Central Shenandoah Hazard Mitigation Plan and is included in this resolution, 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Dayton Town Council that the Central 
Shenandoah Hazard Mitigation Plan 2020 Update is hereby approved and adopted for the Town of Dayton.   

ACTION ITEM: CONSIDERATION OF PERSONNEL POLICY REVISIONS:   Mayor 
Jackson asked Manager Lawrence for a staff report, which she provided.  She stated that the 
Personnel Committee met and asked for any personnel policies that needed revision.  There were 
two items in need of revision and clarification involving the inclement weather policy and the 
PTO policy.  Councilperson Estes made a motion to approve the personnel policies as revised.  
The motion was seconded by Councilperson Hoover. Mayor Jackson asked if there was any 
discussion.  After hearing none, the motion was approved by a roll call vote of 7 to 0, the voting 
recorded as follows: RODGERS—AYE; DYJAK—AYE; HOOVER—AYE; SEWARD—AYE; 
ESTES—AYE; MATHIAS—AYE; JACKSON—AYE.  The changes are as follows: 

Section IV. I. Inclement Weather  
Essential personnel are paid an additional regular rate for the hours worked during such closing provided 
they are in occupational classes eligible for overtime pay.   

Section VII. B. 1. PTO 

Employees not actively working or employees on leave, and who have exhausted all accrued leave for a 
calendar year, shall not be eligible to accrue PTO time.  During their first year of employment, 
Eemployees may take up to 40 hours of PTO time off during a calendar year in advance of the accrual for 
emergency and medical purposes only; however, if employment is terminated or the employee resigns, 
unless due to reduction of work force, or a work-related injury, or illness, before the time is accrued the 
balance of leave time will be deducted from the final pay check or the employee will be required to 
reimburse the Town for the unearned time used.  

MANAGER’S REPORT

Town Manager Angela Lawrence provided a written report, which is attached.  Manager 
Lawrence added that the Town received a bill for the Mill Street Project, and it is over budget by 
about $80,000 and that is not the final bill.  She has requested a meeting ASAP with A & J 

Page 6



DTC Regular Meeting 7-12-21 Minutes Page 7 

Development and the engineer.  She further explained that some of the additions were due to 
mistakes made by others and she wants to ensure that the Town is not paying for those. 

TREASURER’S REPORT 

Treasurer Susan Smith provided a written report and added that Manager Lawrence had an item 
for consideration. 

CONSIDERATION OF FY21 BUDGET ADJUSTMENT:  Manager Lawrence reviewed 
necessary adjustments to the FY21 Budget Amendment that were needed and asked that Council 
approve the adjustment.  She stated that this is necessary to correct some errors, but does not 
change the bottom line.  Councilperson Estes made a motion to approve the budget adjustment as 
presented (and attached) and to approve the use of unspent contingency funds up to $50,000 for 
the expenses related to water and sewer portions of the Mill Street project.  The motion was 
seconded by Councilperson Mathias.  The motion was approved by a roll call vote of 7 to 0, the 
voting recorded as follows: RODGERS—AYE; DYJAK—AYE; HOOVER—AYE; 
SEWARD—AYE; MATHIAS—AYE; ESTES—AYE; JACKSON—AYE.  

POLICE REPORT

Chief Justin Trout provided a written report. Councilperson Estes stated that she was glad that 
Chief Trout received his grant.  Councilperson Dyjak offered a plug for the August 3rd National 
Night Out event that will be held at Sunset Park.  Chief Trout stated that they have sent out 
letters requesting sponsorships as this is an expensive event.  He added that they are working on 
lots of fun events to encourage neighbors to come out and gather. 

PUBLIC WORKS REPORT 

Public Works Supervisor Adam Meek provided a written report.  Manager Lawrence updated 
that the VDOT portion of the Mill Street project is complete.

WATER DEPARTMENT REPORT 

Water Plant Operator Jennifer Reppe provided a written report.  Manager Lawrence added that 
Jennifer is very dedicated and has had to come in at least six times recently in the middle of the 
night to deal with issues.  

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT REPORT

Community Development Coordinator Christa Hall provided a written report and added that we 
have received a request from Shentel (glofiber) to bring their fiber optic services into Town.  
They have agreed to the terms of the proposed Franchise Agreement and would like for Council 
to consider it at a public hearing at the August 9th Council Meeting if it is the pleasure of the 
Council.  Council authorized staff to set the matter for public hearing in August. 

Page 7



DTC Regular Meeting 7-12-21 Minutes Page 8 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT REPORT

Economic Development Coordinator Meggie Roche provided a written report. Manager 
Lawrence added that the first concert in the park was held and went well.  Kelly May Brown 
performed, concessions were sold by the Dayton Ruritans and the concert was attended by 
approximately 130 people.  Muddler registrations are low and staff is working to increase those.   

TOWN ATTORNEY REPORT

No report.  

ECONOMIC & COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE REPORT

Councilperson Dyjak stated that the committee met to discuss revisions to the Façade Grant, 
recap the Redbud Festival, and discuss the wayfinding signage program.  He stated that it is great 
to have community engagement and involvement with the sign program.  He also stated that the 
Business Community Conversation series will resume with an in-person meeting on August 12 at 
6:15 p.m. in the Council Chambers.  He highlighted that they are looking at possible grant 
opportunities through the Virginia statewide business district resurgence grant program and will 
keep Council posted as to that progress.  In conclusion, he gave a shout out to the many Dayton 
businesses that were nominated for the Best of the Valley and we are eagerly awaiting the final 
results.  Dayton was well represented and he referred to us as “Small, but Mighty!” 

FINANCE COMMITTEE REPORT 

Councilperson Rodgers stated that there was no report.  

INFASTRUCTURE COMMITTEE REPORT 

Councilperson Dyjak stated that there was no report.  

PARKS, RECREATION & BEAUTIFICATION COMMITTEE REPORT 

Councilperson Rodgers reported that there was no report but added that it was good to see 
everyone at the concert and noted the large number of canine attendees.   

PERSONNEL COMMITTEE REPORT

Councilperson Hoover stated that the committee met to discuss the Personnel Policy changes and 
the evaluation process for the Town Manager. 

POLICE COMMITTEE REPORT 

Councilperson Hoover stated that they met and she wanted to extend a shout out to Chief Trout 
as he has been awarded with leadership in a number of committees within the Virginia 
Association of Chiefs of Police.  He is an instructor for active shooter training for all the officers 
in the area and we appreciate all that he does for our Town and also statewide.  All of the Dayton 
officers now have new body worn cameras and new TASERs and have been fully trained.   

Page 8



DTC Regular Meeting 7-12-21 Minutes Page 9 

MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORT 

No report. 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

None.  

NEW BUSINESS

None. 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

None. 

ADJOURNMENT

With there being no further business to come before the Council, Councilperson Seward made a 
motion to adjourn, Councilperson Estes seconded the motion; motion passed unanimously with a 
7-0 vote. 

The meeting adjourned at 8:18 p.m. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Mayor, Cary Jackson  Clerk of Council, Christa Hall 

Page 9



DTC Regular Meeting 7-12-21 Minutes Page 10 

ATTACHMENT TO DTC 7.12.21 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES—FY2020-2021 Budget Adjustment 

Adopted FY21  Revised   Adjustment 
Revenue  Amendment 
   General Fund 

General Property Tax    118,500       61,162  61,162  
Other Local Tax     390,000     395,406  395,406 
Other Local Revenues    247,992     272,048  272,048 
Federal/State Funding    226,884     970,910  970,910 

   Subtotal General Fund before transfer      983,376  1,699,526                 1,699,526 
Transfer from Water & Sewer Fund* 1,012,464 319,406 
Transfer from Reserves**      319,406                  

   Subtotal General Fund after transfer  1,995,840  2,018,932                 2,018,932 
   Capital Fund – General 

Transfer from Water & Sewer Fund*    185,580       425,000      425,000 
Transfer from Reserves**  1,600,000 

   Water & Sewer Fund 3,722,000  3,850,000 3,850,000 
   Capital Fund – Water & Sewer 

Transfer from Water & Sewer Fund  
Transfer from Reserves**  

Total Revenues  7,503,420  6,293,932                  6,293,932 

Expenditures 
   General Fund 

General Government    625 490            625,490                    625,490 
Public Safety    686,997       686,997 686,997 
Public Works    397,237       397,237                    397,237 
Parks, Recreation & Cultural                      147,721        65,000 65,000 
Community & Economic Dev     138,395         95,000 95,000 
Debt Service               0  0 

   Sub-total 1,995,840   1,869,724 1,869,724 
   Capital Fund – General     185,580        425,000  425,000 
   Water & Sewer Fund  

Water & Sewer Operations  2,523,956   2,300,000  2,412,594 
   Capital Fund – Water & Sewer 1,600,000 0 
   Total Expenditures before transfers  6,305,736   4,594,724 4,707,318 

Transfer to Capital-General*     185,580        425,000 425,000 
Transfer to Capital – Water & Sewer       0 
Transfer to General Fund*           1,012,464       319,406                     319,406 
Transfer to Reserves       954,802 842,208 

Total Expenditures after transfers               7,503,420    6,293,932                 6,293,932 

* Note: Transfers from Water & Sewer Fund to General & Capital Funds are from operating surplus. They are listed as expense    
in each fund.   
**Note: Reflects transfer from reserve (retained earnings) for budgeting purposes. It is not new revenue.  

Page 10



DTC Regular Meeting 7-12-21 Minutes Page 11 

ATTACHMENT TO DTC 7.12.21 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

Town Manager   Staff Report  June 2021 

Personnel 

1) Staff participated in a cookout & team building exercise. It was well received.  

Public Works, Roads, Facilities 

1) Water Plant Upgrade:
a) The engineer has scheduled the surveyor and geotech crew; however, the plat and survey have 

not been received and therefore no negotiation for additional property has occurred yet.  Field 

work should be complete in the coming week.  The engineer has received preliminary drawings 

from the equipment manufacturer this week and is refining the modified project design. The 

manufacturer is working on their proposal scope and cost. 

b) The engineer has a few options on handling the regular backwash stream.  He will meet with the 
Water Plant Operator on July 8.  

2) Mill Street Project: 

a) VDOT conducted the final inspection of the project and asked the contractor to make revisions 

to several of the handicapped ramps. Those are currently being done. 

b) The contractor is replacing some water line fittings and will patch the pavement.  

c) The contractor is completing work on a fence and sidewalk at Mill & College Streets.  

d) I have not received the final bill to date. I will provide an update at the meeting.   

American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) 

a) We received our first payment by the end of last fiscal year.  

b) We expect to receive the same amount by the end of this fiscal year, but do not have 

confirmation of a date. 

Other 

a) The A/V equipment install has been delayed again as the sound board is back-ordered.  

b) The public works crew has new logo shirts – gray polo and orange reflective that will be worn 

daily. 

c) HRSSA has hired a new Executive Director. Greg Thomasson is scheduled to begin July 1.  

Items for Discussion and/or consideration 

Respectfully submitted,  

Angela A. Lawrence 

Page 11



Item 4.a. 

Consideration of an Ordinance Granting a 20-year Franchise Agreement with Shenandoah Cable 
Television, LLC (glofiber) 

Discussion:  

 Shenandoah Cable Television, LLC (Shentel) has requested a 20-year franchise agreement to provide 
fiber optic cable for internet and telecommunication services (glofiber). 

 The franchise agreement does not grant the right to operate a cable television system. 

 We have a franchise agreement with Comcast. This does not negate anything in that franchise 

agreement.  

 Shentel will repair any damage on VDOT or Town rights-of-way.  

 glofiber is available in Harrisonburg and Staunton, among other areas. They have applied for a 
franchise agreement with Bridgewater and other towns within Rockingham County.  

 This agreement does not guarantee that every residence or business will have access to glofiber.  

Recommendation:  

 The Town Attorney has reviewed the attached agreement.  

 A public hearing is scheduled prior to consideration of this action item.  

 Staff recommends approval of the agreement, pending public input.  

Page 12



Item 4.a. 

ORDINANCE TO APPROVE A NON-EXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE TOWN OF DAYTON, VIRGINIA AND  

SHENANDOAH CABLE TELEVISION, LLC

WHEREAS, the Town of Dayton, Virginia (the “Town”) and Shenandoah Cable 
Television, LLC (“Franchisee”) have negotiated a non-exclusive franchise that would permit 
Franchisee to install, maintain, operate, replace, and remove fiber optic cables and related ancillary 
devises in the Town’s Public Rights-of-Way, subject to the terms and conditions of the Franchise 
Agreement dated August 9, 2021 (the “Franchise”) and attached hereto as Exhibit A; and 

WHEREAS, the Town has held a public hearing after due advertisement and has invited 
additional bids concerning the subject matter of the Franchise; and 

WHEREAS, the Town and the Franchisee desire to enter into the Franchise.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Town Council of the Town of Dayton, 
Virginia, that the Franchise is granted and approved, and that the Town Manager is authorized and 
directed to execute the Franchise.  

Ordained this 9th day of August, 2021. 

CERTIFICATE 

The undersigned Mayor and Clerk of the Town Council of the Town of Dayton, Virginia 
hereby certify that the foregoing constitutes a true and correct copy of an Ordinance to Approve a 
Non-Exclusive Franchise Agreement Between the Town of Dayton, Virginia and Shenandoah 
Cable Television, LLC adopted by the Town Council at a meeting held on August 9, 2021.  A 
record of the roll-call vote by the Town Council is as follows: 

NAME AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT 
Cary Jackson, Mayor 
Dale Rodgers, Vice Mayor  
Bradford Dyjak  
Heidi Hoover 
Robert Seward 
Emily Estes 
Susan Mathias 

Date: August 9, 2021 

ATTEST: ______________________________                _______________________________ 
 Clerk, Town Council of the          Mayor, Town of Dayton, Virginia 
 Town of Dayton 

Page 13



Item 4.a. 

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

This Franchise Agreement (the “Franchise”) is granted this 9th day of August, 2021, by the 

TOWN OF DAYTON, VIRGINIA, a municipal corporation (the “Town”), and 

SHENANDOAH CABLE TELEVISION, LLC, a Virginia corporation (“Shentel”). 

WHEREAS, Shentel intends to run one or more fiber optic cables with related ancillary 

devices (collectively, the “Equipment”) in public rights-of-way within the Town of Dayton for the 

purpose of providing internet and telecommunications services, and 

WHEREAS, this Franchise has been authorized by an ordinance enacted by the Council of 

the Town, in the manner provided by Va. Code, §§ 15.2-2100, et seq.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants set forth below, 

1. For the period of this Franchise, Shentel shall have the right to install, maintain, operate, 

replace, and remove Equipment within the boundaries of all public streets and public 

alleys in the Town (the “Rights-of-Way”).  Notwithstanding the foregoing: 

a. This Franchise does not allow Shentel to install utility poles, although it may 

locate its Equipment on existing poles, should the owner of the poles agree. 

b. This Franchise does not allow Shentel to install anything except for the 

Equipment, including without limitation wireless telecommunications facilities. 

c. Shentel will provide the Town with written notice, at least 30 days in advance, 

before installing any Equipment.  In this 30-day period, the Town may object to 

Equipment if, in the Town’s sole judgment, the Equipment would have an adverse 

impact on public safety or would unreasonably hinder or conflict with (i) 

pedestrian, cycle, or vehicular traffic, or (ii) other existing or planned future uses 

of the Rights-of-Way. This Franchise provides no authority for Equipment to 

which the Town has so objected or Equipment installed without the requisite 30-

day notice. All Shentel Equipment installed before the date of this Franchise shall 

be deemed to have been installed with notice and without objection. 

d. For any Rights-of-Way within the Town that are controlled by the Virginia 

Department of Transportation, Shentel shall comply with any applicable VDOT 

requirements, including without limitation permitting requirements.  

Page 14



Item 4.a. 

2. From time to time, the Town may adopt construction standards applicable to Shentel’s 

Equipment or permitting standards for work in the Rights-of-Way. With respect to all 

Equipment installed and/or work performed after such adoption, Shentel will abide by 

such standards. 

3. Shentel will be responsible to the Town for any damage to Town streets or other Town 

property caused by Shentel's activities hereunder.  Shentel will immediately repair any 

portion of the Rights-of-Way damaged or disturbed by Shentel to a condition that meets 

or exceeds the condition of the Rights-of-Way immediately prior to such damage or 

disturbance. In performing such repair, Shentel shall comply with any applicable VDOT 

standards.  

4. Utility “undergrounding,” street repair or improvement, and other public projects may 

necessitate the relocation of Shentel’s Equipment.  If requested by the Town, Shentel will 

relocate its Equipment, at Shentel’s own expense, to accommodate any such project. 

5. Shentel shall indemnify and hold harmless the Town from any and all damages or injuries 

arising from Shentel’s activities hereunder, including without limitation attorney’s fees 

and costs incurred by the Town in enforcement of this Franchise.  

6. This Franchise shall expire 20 years after the date of this agreement and shall provide no 

rights (carryover or otherwise) after such expiration. 

7. This Franchise does not grant the right to operate a cable television system.  

8. Shentel shall reimburse the Town for the Town’s actual costs incurred in advertising this 

Franchise and legal review of this Franchise, not to exceed $3,000.  

Witness the following signatures and seals: 

TOWN OF DAYTON [L.S.] 

By: ________________________________________ 
Angela A. Lawrence, Town Manager

SHENANDOAH CABLE TELEVISION, LLC [L.S.] 

By: ________________________________________ 

Page 15



Item 4.b. 

Consideration of Revision to Chapter 3.1.2 Sewer Ordinance of Title 6 of the Dayton Town Code 

Discussion:  

 At its June 7, 2021 meeting, HRRSA’s Board of Directors approved the attached revised HRRSA 

Operating Rules & Regulations (OR&R). 

 The revisions were mandated by Virginia Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) based on 

EPA’s Streamlining Regulation.  

 The changes have been reviewed and accepted by the DEQ.  

 In accordance with our Interjurisdictional Pretreatment Agreement, HRRSA requests that the Town 
adopt its own local ordinance consistent with the revised OR&R no later than September 1, 2021.  

Recommendation:  

 The Town Attorney and staff have reviewed the attached ordinance.  

 Staff recommends Council approval to amend Title 6 of the Dayton Town Code as presented.  

Page 16



Item 4.b. 

1

SEWER ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE HARRISONBURG-ROCKINGHAM 
REGIONAL SEWER AUTHORITY OPERATING RULES AND REGULATIONS  

WHEREAS, the Town of Dayton (the “Town”) has an interest in the safety, health, and welfare of the 
Town;  

WHEREAS, the Town is a member of the Harrisonburg-Rockingham Regional Sewer Authority (the 
“Authority”), a public body created pursuant to the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act, Virginia Code 
Section 15.2-5100 et seq.;  

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Interjurisdictional Pretreatment Agreement between the Authority and 
the Town, the Town is required to update its sewer ordinances to provide discharge limits at least as stringent 
as those established by the Authority;  

WHEREAS, the Authority enacted new sewer rules and regulations on June 7, 2021 and has requested 
that the Town act to update the Town’s sewer ordinances by September 1, 2021; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the Town that Chapter 3.1.2 Sewer 
Ordinance of Title 6 of the Code of Ordinances of the Town of Dayton is amended, as follows: 

CHAPTER 3.1.2 
Sewer Ordinance 

6.12 Definitions 

Unless the context specifically indicates otherwise, the following terms and phrases, as used in this Ordinance, 
shall have the following meanings: 

1) Act or “the Act”.  The Federal Water Pollution Control Act, also known as the Clean Water Act, as 
amended, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251, et seq. 

2) Authorized representative of Industrial User.  The duly authorized representative of an Industrial 
User who is responsible for the overall operation of the facilities from which the Indirect Discharge 
originates. See Section 6-29(4).  

3) Authority.  Harrisonburg-Rockingham Regional Sewer Authority, a public body politic and corporate, 
created pursuant to the Virginia Water and Sewer Authorities Act, or its duly authorized 
representative. 

4) Best Management Practices (BMPs). Schedules of activities, prohibitions of practices, maintenance 
procedures, and other management practices to implement the prohibitions listed in Section 6.13. 
BMPs include treatment requirements, operating procedures, and practices to control plant site 
runoff, spillage or leaks, sludge or waste disposal, or drainage from raw materials storage. Note: 
BMPs also include alternative means (i.e., management plans) of complying with, or in place of 
certain established categorical Pretreatment Standards and effluent limits. 

5) Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD).  The quantity of oxygen utilized in the biochemical oxidation 

of organic matter under standard laboratory procedure, five (5) days at 20
o
 centigrade expressed in 

terms of weight and concentration [milligrams per liter (mg/L]. 

6) Building Sewer.  A sewer conveying Wastewater from the premises of a User to the System. 

7) Categorical Pretreatment Standards or Categorical Standards.  National Categorical Pretreatment 
Standards applicable to a specific category of Industrial Users.  

8) Cooling Water.  The water discharged from any use such as air conditioning, cooling or refrigeration, 
and to which the only Pollutant added is heat. 

Page 17



2

9) Direct Discharge.  The Discharge of treated or untreated Wastewater directly to the Waters of the 
State. 

10) End of Pipe.  The location at which any private or Industrial User connects to the public sewer 
(collection) System. 

11) Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA.  The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, or where 
appropriate the term may also be used as a designation for the EPA Regional Administrator or other 
duly authorized official of said agency. 

12) Executive Director.  The person designated by the Authority to supervise the operation of the portion 
of the System owned by the Authority or her duly authorized representative. 

13) Gender.  The use of “his” or “her” shall include the other. 

14) Grab Sample.  A sample which is taken from a waste stream on a one-time basis with no regard to the 
flow in the waste stream and without consideration of duration. 

15) Holding Tank Waste.  Any waste from holding tanks such as vessels, chemical toilets, campers, 
trailers, septic tanks, and vacuum-pump tank trucks. 

16) Human Waste.  Water borne human excrement as may be present from residences, buildings, 
Industrial Users or other places. 

17) Indirect Discharge or Discharge.  The discharge or the introduction of Pollutants into the System from 
any non-domestic source. 

18) Industrial User.  A source of Indirect Discharge. 

19) Instantaneous Limit. The maximum concentration of a pollutant allowed to be discharged at any 
time, determined from the analysis of any discrete or composited sample collected, independent of 
the industrial flow rate and the duration of the sampling event.  

20) Interference.  The inhibition or disruption of the Town’s or Authority’s Wastewater conveyances, 
Treatment processes or operations.  The term includes prevention of or Interference with sewage 
sludge use or disposal by the Town or Authority. 

21) Local Limits. Concentration based or other limits for designated parameters (see section 6-13(13)).  
Local Limits apply at End of Pipe and are expressed as maximum per day limits, or as otherwise 
specifically provided. 

22) Member Jurisdictions.  The City of Harrisonburg, the County of Rockingham, and the Towns of 
Bridgewater, Dayton, and Mt. Crawford which individually collect Wastewater within their respective 
jurisdictions for Treatment by the Authority. 

23) National Pretreatment Standard.  Any regulation containing Pollutant Discharge limits promulgated 
by the EPA in accordance with section 307(b) and (c) of the Act (33 U.S.C. 1317) which applies to 
Industrial Users. 

24) New Source.  

a) Any building, structure, facility or installation from which there is or may be a Discharge of 
Pollutants, the construction of which commenced after the publication of proposed National 
Pretreatment Standards under section 307(c) of the Act which will be applicable to such source 
if such Standards are thereafter promulgated in accordance with that section, provided that: (i) 
the building, structure, facility or installation is constructed at a site at which no other source is 
located; or (ii) the building, structure, facility or installation totally replaces the process or 

Page 18



3

production equipment that causes the Discharge of Pollutants at an existing source; or (iii) the 
production or Wastewater generating processes of the building, structure, facility or installation 
are substantially independent of an existing source at the same site 

b) Construction on a site at which an existing source is located results in a modification rather than 
a New Source if the construction does not create a new building, structure, facility or installation 
meeting the criteria of (a)(ii) or (a)(iii) of this section but otherwise alters, replaces or adds to 
existing process or production equipment. 

c) Construction of a New Source as defined under this section has commenced if the owner or 
operator has (i) begun, or caused to begin as part of a continuous onsite construction program (A) 
any placement, assembly, or installation of facilities or equipment, or (B) significant site 
preparation work including clearing, excavation, or removal of existing buildings, structures, or 
facilities which is necessary for the placement, assembly, or installation of New Source facilities 
or equipment; or (ii) entered into a binding contractual obligation for the purchase of facilities or 
equipment which are intended to be used in its operation within a reasonable time.  Options to 
purchase or contracts which can be terminated or modified without substantial loss, and contracts 
for feasibility, engineering, and design studies do not constitute a contractual obligation under 
this section. 

25) National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Permit (NPDES or VPDES).  A permit issued 
pursuant to section 402 of the Act (33 U.S.C. § 1342). 

26) North American Industry Classification System (NAICS). The standard used by Federal statistical 
agencies in classifying business establishments for the purpose of collecting, analyzing, 
and publishing statistical data related to the U.S. business economy. The NAICS industry codes define 
establishments based on the activities in which they are primarily engaged. 

27) Pass Through.  A Discharge which exits the System into Waters of the State in quantities or 
concentrations which, alone or in conjunction with a Discharge from other sources, are a cause of a 
violation of any requirement of the Authority’s VPDES Permit (including an increase in the 
magnitude or duration of a violation).  An Industrial User significantly contributes to such permit 
violation where it (i) Discharges a daily Pollutant loading or concentration in excess of that allowed 
by the Authority or by Federal, State or local law; (ii) discharges Wastewater which substantially 
differs in nature and constituents from the User’s average Discharge; (iii) knows or has reason to 
know that its Discharge, alone or in conjunction with Discharges from other sources, would result in 
a permit violation; or (iv) knows or has reason to know that the Authority is, for any reason, violating 
its final effluent limitations in its permit and that such Industrial User’s Discharge either alone or in 
conjunction with Discharges from other sources, increases the magnitude or duration of the 
Authority’s violations. 

28) Person.  Any individual, partnership, firm, company, corporation, cooperative, association, trust, 
estate, governmental entity or any other legal entity, or their legal representatives, agents or assigns. 

29) pH. The logarithm (base 10) of the reciprocal of the concentration of hydrogen ions. 

30) Pollution.  The man-made or man-induced alteration of the chemical, physical, biological or 
radiological integrity of water. 

31) Pollutant.  Any dredged soil, solid waste, incinerator residue, sewage, garbage, sewage sludge, 
munitions, chemical wastes, biological materials, radioactive materials, heat, wrecked or discharged 
equipment, rock, sand, cellar dirt and industrial, municipal and agricultural waste discharged into 
water. 

32) Pretreatment or Treatment.  The reduction of the amount of Pollutants, the elimination of Pollutants 
or the alteration of the nature of Pollutant properties in Wastewater to a less harmful state prior to or 
in lieu of discharging or otherwise introducing such Pollutants into  the System.   

Page 19



4

33) Pretreatment Requirements.  Any substantive or procedural requirement related to Pretreatment, other 
than a National Pretreatment Standard imposed on an Industrial User. 

34) Publicly Owned Treatment Works (POTW). A treatment works, as defined by section 212 of the 
Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. section 1292), which is owned by the Authority. This definition 
includes any devices or systems used in the collection, storage, treatment, recycling, and 
reclamation of sewage or industrial wastes of a liquid nature and any conveyances, which convey 
wastewater to a treatment plant.  

35) Significant Industrial User.  (i) All Industrial Users subject to Categorical Pretreatment Standards; (ii) 
any Industrial User that discharges an average of 25,000 gallons per day or more of process 
Wastewater to the Authority (excluding Human Waste, noncontact cooling and boiler blowdown 
Wastewater); (iii) any Industrial User that contributes a process wastestream which makes up 5 
percent or more of the average dry weather hydraulic or organic capacity of the Authority Treatment 
Plant; or (iv) any Industrial User that is designated as such by the Authority on the basis that the 
Industrial User has a reasonable potential for adversely affecting the Authority’s operation or for 
violating any Pretreatment Standard or Requirement. 

36) Significant Noncompliance. A User is in significant noncompliance if its violations meet one or more 
of the following criteria: (i) chronic violations of Wastewater Discharge limits, defined as those in 
which sixty-six percent or more of all of the measurements taken during a six-month period exceed 
(by any magnitude) the daily maximum limit or the average limit for the same Pollutant parameter, 
including instantaneous limits, as defined by 9VAC25-31-10; (ii) technical review criteria (TRC) 
violations defined as those in which thirty-three percent or more of all of the measurements for each 
Pollutant parameter taken during a six-month period equal or exceed the product of the daily average 
maximum limit or the average limit, including  instantaneous limits, as defined by 9VAC25-31-10; 
multiplied by the applicable TRC (TRC = 1.4 for BOD, TSS, fats, oil, and grease, and 1.2 for all other 
Pollutants except pH); (iii) any  other violation of a Pretreatment effluent limit or requirement as 
defined by 9VAC25-31-10 (daily maximum, long-term average, instantaneous limit, or narrative 
standard) that the Authority determines has caused, alone or in combination with other Discharges, 
Interference or Pass Through (including endangering the health of Authority personnel or the general  
public); (iv) any Discharge of a Pollutant that has caused imminent endangerment to human health, 
welfare or to the environment or has resulted in the Authority’s exercise of its emergency authority to 
halt or prevent such a Discharge; (v) failure to meet, within 90 days after the schedule date, a 
compliance schedule milestone contained in a Wastewater Discharge Permit or enforcement order for 
starting construction, completing construction, or attaining final compliance; (vi) failure to provide, 
within 45 days after the due date, required  reports such as baseline monitoring reports, 90-day 
compliance reports, periodic self-monitoring reports, and reports on compliance with compliance 
schedules; (vii) failure to  accurately report noncompliance; or (viii) any other violation or group of 
violations that may include a violation of Best Management Practices which the Authority determines 
will  adversely affect the operation or implementation of the Pretreatment program. 

37) Slug Loading or Slug Discharge.  Any discharge at a flow rate or concentration, which could cause a 
violation of the prohibited discharge standards in Section 6.13 of this ordinance. Any Discharge of 
non-routine, episodic nature, including but not limited to an accidental spill or a non-customary 
batch Discharge, which has a reasonable potential to cause Interference or Pass Through, or in any 
other way violate the POTW’s regulations, Local Limits or Permit conditions.  

38) Soluble BOD (sBOD).  The BOD result on a sample that is filtered through a 0.45 µm pore size filter.  

39) State.  Commonwealth of Virginia. 

40) Standard Industrial Classification (SIC).  A classification pursuant to the Standard Industrial 
Classification Manual issued by the Executive Office of the President, Office of Management and 
Budget, 1972. 

41) Storm Water.  Any flow occurring during or following any form of natural precipitation and resulting 
therefrom. 

Page 20



5

37(a) Superintendent.  Shall mean the Town Superintendent of the Town, or his authorized deputy, agent 
or representative. 

42) System.  The Treatment Plant, works and facilities owned by the Authority, including all sewer lines 
that convey Wastewater to the Treatment Plant, and in addition, such term shall include the sewer 
lines owned by the Town. 

43) Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (TKN).  Organic nitrogen plus ammonia, as defined by the named analytical 
procedure. 

44) Total Suspended Solids (TSS).  The total suspended matter which floats on the surface of, or is 
suspended in, water, Wastewater or other liquids, and which is removable by laboratory filtering. 

40(a) Town.  The Town of Dayton, Virginia. 

45) Toxic Pollutant.  Any Pollutant or combination of Pollutants listed as toxic in regulations promulgated 
by the Administrator of EPA under the provision of section 307(a) of the Act. 

46) Treatment Plant.  That portion of the System designed to provide Treatment to Wastewater. 

47) User.  Any Person who causes or permits the contribution of Wastewater into the System. 

48) Wastewater.  The liquid or water-carried industrial or domestic wastes from dwellings, commercial 
buildings, industrial facilities and institutions, together with all other wastes which may be present, 
whether treated or untreated, which are contributed into or permitted to enter the System. 

49) Waters of the State.  All streams, lakes, ponds, marshes, watercourses, waterways, wells, springs, 
reservoirs, aquifers, irrigation systems, drainage systems and all other bodies or accumulations of 
water, surface or underground, natural or artificial, public or private, which are contained within, flow 
through, or border upon the State or any portion thereof. 

50) Wastewater Discharge Permit. As set forth in Section 6-28 of this Ordinance. 

6.12.1  Abbreviations 

The following abbreviations shall have the designated meanings. 

a) BOD - Biochemical Oxygen Demand 

b) CFR - Code of Federal Regulations 

c) COD - Chemical Oxygen Demand 

d) L - Liter 

e) mg - Milligrams 

f) mg/L - Milligrams per liter 

g) µm - Micrometer 

h) RCRA - Resource Conservation and Recovery Act 

i) SWDA - Solids Waste Disposal Act, 42 U.S.C. 6901, et seq. 

j) U.S.C. - United States Code 

Page 21



6

k) TSS - Total Suspended Solids 

l) NPDES/VPDES - National/Virginia Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 

6-13 General Discharge Prohibitions 

No User shall contribute or cause to be contributed, directly or indirectly, any Pollutant or Wastewater which 
will cause a Pass Through or an Interference with the operation or performance of the System.  This general 
prohibition applies to all Users of the System whether or not the User is subject to National Pretreatment 
Standards or any other national, State, or local requirements.  A User may not contribute the following 
substances directly or indirectly to the System: 

1) Any liquids, solids or gases which by reason of their nature or quantity are, or may be sufficient either 
alone or by interaction with other substances to cause fire or explosion hazard including, but not 
limited to, wastestreams with a closed cup flashpoint of less than 140 degrees Fahrenheit or 60 degrees 
Centigrade using the test methods specified in 40 CFR § 261.21.  Prohibited materials include, but 
are not limited to, gasoline, kerosene, naphtha, benzene, toluene, xylene, ethers, alcohols, ketones, 
aldehydes, peroxides, chlorates, perchlorates, bromates, carbides, hydrides and sulfides. 

2) Unusual concentrations of Total Suspended Solids (such as, but not limited to, Fullers earth, lime 
slurries and lime residue), or any solid or viscous Pollutants in amounts that will cause obstruction to 
the flow in the System. 

3) Any Wastewater having a pH less than 5.5, or Wastewater having any other corrosive property capable 
of causing damage or creating a hazard to the System or personnel of the Authority or Town. 

4) Any Wastewater containing or which result in the presence of Toxic Pollutants or gases, vapors or 
fumes in sufficient quantity, either alone or by interaction with other Pollutants, which injures any 
Wastewater Treatment process, may cause acute worker health or safety problems, creates a toxic 
effect in the receiving waters of the Authority or Town, or exceeds the limitation set forth in a 
Categorical Standard.  A Toxic Pollutant shall include, but shall not be limited to, any Pollutant 
identified as such pursuant to section 307(a) of the Act. 

5) Any noxious or malodorous liquids, gases or solids which either alone or by interaction with other 
wastes are sufficient to create a public nuisance or hazard to life or are sufficient to prevent personnel 
of the Authority or Town from entering into the sewers for maintenance and repair. 

6) Any substance which may cause the Authority’s effluent or any other product of the Authority such 
as residues, sludges, or scums, to be unsuitable for reclamation and reuse or to interfere with the 
reclamation process.  In no case shall any substance discharged to the System cause the Authority to 
violate any applicable sludge use or disposal criteria, or regulations developed therefore. 

7) Any substance which will cause the Authority to violate its VPDES Permit or applicable water quality 
standards of the receiving water. 

8) Any Wastewater with objectionable color which cannot be removed by the Treatment Plant, such as, 
but not limited to, dye waste and vegetable tanning solutions. 

9) Any Wastewater having a temperature which will inhibit biological activity in the Treatment Plant 
resulting in Interference, but in no case Wastewater with a temperature that causes the temperature of 

the combined Wastewater of all Users at the Treatment Plant to exceed 37
o
 Centigrade (98.6

o

Fahrenheit). 

10) Slug Loading(s) prohibited by this Ordinance. 

11) Any Wastewater containing any radioactive wastes or isotopes of such half-life or concentration as 
may exceed limits established by the Authority. 

Page 22



7

12) Any water or waste containing fats, wax, grease or oils, whether emulsified or not, in excess of one 
hundred (100) mg/L or containing substances which may solidify or become viscous at temperatures 
between thirty-two (32) and one hundred fifty (150) degrees Fahrenheit. 

13) Any Wastewater, which at the End of Pipe location, exceeds the following Local Limits for the listed 
parameters: 

Parameter Maximum Daily Limit (mg/L) 

Arsenic  0.51 
Cadmium 0.09 
Chromium 4.4 
Copper  1.7 
Cyanide  2.2 
Lead  1.21 
Mercury  0.002 
Nickel  1.5 
Selenium 0.41 
Silver  2.8 
Zinc  5.0 

Parameter 
Maximum Daily 

Limit 
 (mg/L) 

Monthly Average 
Limit 

 (mg/L) 

Monthly Average 
Concentration 

(mg/L) 
BOD 500 350 NA 
TSS 500 350 NA 
TKN 100 NA 70.0 
Total Phosphorus 20 NA 14.0 
Nitrate + Nitrite 10.0 NA NA 
Oil & Grease 100 NA NA 
pH (Range in standard units)  

5.5 - 9.5 
NA NA 

The Executive Director of the Authority may impose mass limitations in place of the concentration-
based limits above with respect to any User other than a Significant Industrial User. If any measured 
values of these parameters are over the limits listed above, the Authority will determine if an Industrial 
User designation is required.  

The sample type for Oil & Grease and pH shall be a Grab Sample. The sample type for all other 
parameters shall be a 24-hour composite sample (or for the time period Discharges occur if less than 24 
hours). Compliance with a maximum daily limit shall be based on a single composite sample when there 
is only one sample in a 24-hour period, or an average of multiple composite samples in a day. 
Compliance with a monthly average limit shall be based on an average of all of the values for a specific 
parameter within a calendar month. Under no circumstances may Grab Samples be averaged. 

Discharges of each single sample of TKN and Total Phosphorus in excess of the respective monthly 
average concentration shown in the table above but below the maximum daily limit shall not be 
considered an exceedance or a violation of the Local Limits. All Discharges of TKN and Total 
Phosphorus in excess of the respective monthly average concentration shall be subject to the Treatment 
Cost Recovery Fees in section 6-25. 

14) Any trucked or hauled Pollutants except at discharge points designated by the Authority, and pursuant 
to specific authorization of a Wastewater Discharge Permit pursuant to this Ordinance or other written 
Authority authorization. 

15) Petroleum oil, non-biodegradable cutting oil, or products containing mineral oil in amounts that will 
cause Interference or Pass Through. 

16) Any Wastewater containing quantities of Pollutants which exceed the applicable limitations set forth 

Page 23



8

in a National Pretreatment Standard as such standards may be revised from time to time. 

17) Unusual concentrations of Biochemical Oxygen Demand, at a flow rate or Pollutant concentration 
that will cause Interference. 

18) Any Storm Water or water from any roof, foundation, areaway, parking lot, roadway, or other surface 
runoff or groundwater drains. 

6-14 Prohibited Substances and Materials 

No Person shall discharge or cause to be discharged, either directly or indirectly, any Wastewater, sewage or 
waste to the System which will cause a Pass Through or an Interference with the operation or performance of 
the Treatment Plant or the following described substances, materials, waters, or wastes if it appears likely, in 
the opinion of the Authority or Town, that such wastes can harm the System, have an adverse effect on the 
Waters of the State or can otherwise endanger life, limb, public property or constitute a nuisance. Consideration 
will be given to such factors as the quantities of subject wastes in relation to flows and velocities in the sewers, 
materials of construction of the sewers, nature of the sewage Treatment process, capacity of the Treatment 
Plant, degree of treatability of wastes in the Treatment Plant and other pertinent factors. The substances 
prohibited are: 

1) Any liquid or vapor having a temperature higher than one hundred fifty (150) degrees Fahrenheit.  

2) Any garbage that has not been properly shredded. The installation and operation of any garbage 
grinder equipped with a motor of three-fourths horsepower (0.76 hp metric) or greater shall be subject 
to the review and approval of the Town or the Authority.  

3) Any waters or wastes containing strong acid iron pickling wastes or concentrated plating solutions, 
whether neutralized or not.  

4) Any waters or wastes containing iron, chromium, copper, zinc and similar objectionable or toxic 
substances or wastes exerting an excessive chlorine requirement to such degree that any such material 
received in the Wastewater at the Treatment Plant exceeds the limits established by the Authority for 
such materials.  

5) Any waters or wastes containing phenols or other taste- or odor-producing substances, in such 
concentrations exceeding limits which may be established by the Authority as necessary, after 
Treatment of the Wastewater, to meet the requirements of the State, federal or other public agencies 
of jurisdiction for such discharge to the Waters of the State.  

6) Materials which exert or cause unusual concentrations of dissolved solids (such as, but not limited to, 
sodium chloride and sodium sulfate) not to exceed seven hundred and fifty (750) mg/L. 

When the Authority or Town determines that a User is violating this section, the violator may be subject to the 
Enforcement Actions in section 6-32 through 6-40 of this Ordinance. 

6-15 Federal Categorical Pretreatment Standards 

Compliance by existing sources with Categorical Standards is required under federal law within three (3) years 
of the date the Standard is effective, unless a shorter compliance time is specified within the Standard.  
Compliance by New Sources is required under federal law on the date the Standard is effective.   

1) Non-Significant Categorical Industrial Users 

The Authority may determine that a Categorical Industrial User is a Non-Significant Categorical Industrial 
User rather than a Significant Industrial User on a finding that the Industrial User never discharges more than 
100 gallons per day (gpd) of total categorical Wastewater (excluding sanitary, non-contact cooling and boiler 
blowdown Wastewater, unless specifically included in the standard) and the following conditions are met: 

a) The Industrial User, prior to the Authority's finding, has consistently complied with all 
applicable Categorical Pretreatment Standards and Requirements; 

Page 24



9

b) The Industrial User annually submits the certification statement required in 40 CFR § 403.12(q) 
together with any additional information necessary to support the certification statement; and 

c) The Industrial User never discharges any untreated concentrated Wastewater.   

2) Equivalent Limitations to Those Expressed as Mass 

When the limits in a Categorical Pretreatment Standard are expressed only in terms of mass of Pollutant per 
unit of production, the Authority may convert the limits to equivalent limitations expressed either as mass of 
Pollutant discharged per day or effluent concentration for purposes of calculating effluent limitations 
applicable to individual Industrial Users.  

In any such case the Authority, in calculating equivalent mass-per-day limitations shall calculate such 
limitations by multiplying the limits in the Categorical Standard by the Industrial User's average rate of 
production. This average rate of production shall be based not upon the designed production capacity but rather 
upon a reasonable measure of the Industrial User's actual long-term daily production, such as the average daily 
production during a representative year. For New Sources, actual production shall be estimated using projected 
production. 

Further in any such case the Authority, in calculating equivalent concentration limitations shall calculate such 
limitations by dividing the mass limitations derived as stated immediately above by the average daily flow rate 
of the Industrial User's regulated process Wastewater. This average daily flow rate shall be based upon a 
reasonable measure of the Industrial User's actual long-term average flow rate, such as the average daily flow 
rate during the representative year. 

3) Equivalent Limitations to Those Expressed as Concentration 

When the limits in a Categorical Pretreatment Standard are expressed only in terms of Pollutant concentrations, 
an Industrial User may request that the Authority convert the limits to equivalent mass limits. The 
determination to convert concentration limits to mass limits is within the discretion of the Authority. The 
Authority may establish equivalent mass limits only if the Industrial User meets all the following conditions 
specified below.  To be eligible for equivalent mass limits, the Industrial User must:  

a) Employ, or demonstrate that it will employ, water conservation methods and technologies that 
substantially reduce water use during the term of its Wastewater Discharge Permit; 

b) Currently use control and Treatment technologies adequate to achieve compliance with the 
applicable Categorical Standard, and not have used dilution as a substitute for Treatment; 

c) Provide sufficient information to establish the facility's actual average daily flow rate for all 
wastestreams, based on data from a continuous effluent flow monitoring device, as well as the 
facility's long-term average production rate. Both the actual average daily flow rate and long-
term average production rate must be representative of current operating conditions; 

d) Not have daily flow rates, production levels, or Pollutant levels that vary so significantly that 
equivalent mass limits are not appropriate to control the Discharge; and 

e) Have consistently complied with all applicable Categorical Standards during the period prior to 
the Industrial User's request for equivalent mass limits. 

Further, an Industrial User subject to equivalent mass limits must: 

f) Maintain and effectively operate control and Treatment technologies adequate to achieve 
compliance with the equivalent mass limits; 

g) Continue to record the facility's flow rates through the use of a continuous effluent flow 
monitoring device; 

Page 25



10

h) Continue to record the facility's production rates and notify the Authority whenever production 
rates are expected to vary by more than 20 percent from its baseline production rates determined 
initially. Upon notification of a revised production rate, the Authority will reassess the 
equivalent mass limit and revise the limit as necessary to reflect changed conditions at the 
facility; and 

i) Continue to employ the same or comparable water conservation methods and technologies as 
those implemented so long as it discharges under an equivalent mass limit. 

The Authority, if it establishes equivalent mass limits, will: 

j) Calculate the equivalent mass limit by multiplying the actual average daily flow rate of the 
regulated process(es) of the Industrial User by the concentration-based daily maximum and 
monthly average limits for the applicable Categorical Standard and the appropriate unit 
conversion factor; 

k) Upon notification of a revised production rate, reassess the equivalent mass limit and recalculate 
the limit as necessary to reflect changed conditions at the facility; and 

l) Retain the same equivalent mass limit in a subsequent Wastewater Discharge Permit if the 
Industrial User's actual average daily flow rate was reduced solely as a result of the 
implementation of water conservation methods and technologies, and the actual average daily 
flow rates used in the original calculation of the equivalent mass limit were not based on the use 
of dilution as a substitute for Treatment. The Industrial User must also be in compliance with 
40 CFR § 403.17 regarding the prohibition of bypass. 

m) The Authority will not express limits in terms of mass for Pollutants such as pH, temperature, 
radiation, or other Pollutants which cannot appropriately be expressed as mass. 

6-16 Modification of Federal Categorical Pretreatment Standards 

When the System achieves consistent removal (as defined by 40 CFR § 403.7) of Pollutants limited by 
Categorical Standards, the Authority may in its discretion apply for modification of specific limits in the 
Categorical Standards.  The Authority may then modify Pollutant Discharge limits in the Categorical Standards 
to reflect such “Removal Credits” if the requirements contained in 40 CFR § 403.7 are met and prior EPA 
approval is obtained. 

6-17 Specific Pollutant Limitations 

The Authority has established Local Limits in section 6-13(13) of this Ordinance applicable to all Users.  The 
Authority further reserves the right to set specific numerical limitations on the quantity of Pollutants discharged 
by any User to the System.  Such further limitations may affect a single User, a category of Users, or all Users 
and will be set at such limits which will further the objectives of this Ordinance. 

6-18 State Requirements 

Any applicable State requirements and limitations on Discharges shall apply in any case where they are more 
stringent than requirements established by the Authority. 

6-19 Authority’s Right of Revision 

The Authority reserves the right to modify the Wastewater Discharge Permits, limitations or requirements on 
Discharges to the System as it determines necessary to comply with the objectives of this Ordinance. 

Page 26



11

6-20 Excessive Discharge 

No User shall ever increase the use of process water or, in any way, attempt to dilute a Discharge as a partial 
or complete substitute for adequate Treatment to achieve compliance with the limitations contained in this 
Ordinance, the Categorical Standards or any other federal, State or local law or regulation. 

6-21 Accidental Discharges 

Each User shall provide protection from accidental Discharge of prohibited Pollutants or other substances 
regulated by this Ordinance.  In case of an accidental Discharge, it is the responsibility of the User to 
immediately telephone and otherwise notify the Authority of the incident.  The notification shall include the 
location of the Discharge, type of waste, concentration, volume, and corrective actions. 

1) Written Notice.  Within five (5) days following an accidental Discharge, the User shall submit to the 
Authority and Town a detailed written report describing the cause of the Discharge and the measures 
to be taken by the User to prevent similar future occurrences.  Such notification shall not relieve the 
User of any expense, loss, damage, or other liability which may be incurred as a result of damage to 
the System, fish kills, or any other damage to Person or property; nor shall such notification relieve 
the User of any civil penalties or other liability which may be imposed under this Ordinance or other 
applicable law. 

2) Notice to Employees.  A notice shall be permanently posted on the User’s bulletin board or other 
prominent place advising employees whom to call in the event of a dangerous or accidental Discharge. 

6-22 New or Increased Wastewater 

The Authority may deny or condition new or increased contributions of Pollutants, or changes in the nature of 
Pollutants, to the System by any User where such contributions do not meet applicable Pretreatment Standards 
or Requirements or where such contributions would cause a risk of Pass Through or Interference to the System.   

All Industrial Users shall promptly notify the Authority of any significant changes to the User’s operations or 
systems which might alter the nature, quality, volume, or character of Pollutants in their Discharge including 
the listed or characteristic hazardous wastes for which the Industrial User has submitted initial notification 
under section 6-24 at least 30 days before the change.  The Executive Director may require the User to submit 
such information as may be deemed necessary to evaluate the changed condition, including the submission of 
a wastewater discharge permit application under 6-28(1) of this ordinance.  The Executive Director may issue 
an individual wastewater discharge permit under Section 6-28 of this ordinance or modify an existing 
wastewater discharge permit under Section 6-28(2) of this ordinance in response to changed conditions or 
anticipated changed conditions. 

6-23 Notification of Problem Discharges 

All Industrial Users shall notify the Authority and Town immediately of all Discharges that could cause 
problems to the System, including but not limited to any Slug Loadings by such Users.  This notification shall 
be followed up within five (5) days by written notification as provided in section 6-21.  Significant Industrial 
Users are required to notify the Authority immediately of any changes at its facility affecting potential for a 
slug discharge. 

6-24 Notification of Hazardous Wastes 

All Industrial Users shall notify the Authority, the EPA Region 3 Waste Management Division Director, the 
Town and the Virginia Department of Environmental Quality Division of Land Protection and Revitalization 
in writing of any Discharge into the System of a substance which, if otherwise disposed of, would be a 
hazardous waste under 40 CFR Part 261 or 9 VAC 20-60.  Such notification must include the name of the 
hazardous waste as set forth in such regulations, the EPA hazardous waste number, and the type of Discharge 
(continuous, batch, or other).  If the Industrial User discharges more than 100 kilograms of such waste per 
calendar month to the System, the notification shall also contain the following information to the extent such 
information is known and readily available to the Industrial User: an identification of the hazardous constituents 

Page 27



12

contained in the wastes, an estimation of the mass and concentration of such constituents in the wastestream 
discharged during that calendar month, and an estimation of the mass of constituents in the wastestream 
expected to be discharged during the following twelve months.  Any notification under this paragraph need be 
submitted only once for each hazardous waste discharged.  However, notifications of changed hazardous waste 
discharges must be submitted to the Authority and Town in advance of any substantial change in the volume 
or character of Pollutants.   

Industrial Users are exempt from the above requirements during a calendar month in which they discharge no 
more than 15 kilograms of hazardous wastes, unless the wastes are acute hazardous wastes as specified in 40 
CFR § 261.30(d) and § 261.33(e).  Discharge of more than fifteen kilograms of non-acute hazardous wastes in 
a calendar month, or any quantity of acute hazardous waste, requires a one-time notification.  Subsequent 
months during which the Industrial User discharges additional quantities of such hazardous waste do not 
require additional notification. 

In the case of new regulations identifying additional characteristics of hazardous waste or listing any additional 
substance as a hazardous waste, the Industrial User must notify the Authority, the EPA Region 3 Waste 
Management Division Director, the Town and the Virginia Department of Environmental Quality Division of 
Land Protection and Revitalization of the discharge of such substance within 90 days of the effective date of 
such regulations. 

In the case of any notification made under this section, the Industrial User shall certify that it has a program in 
place to reduce the volume or toxicity of hazardous wastes generated to the degree it has determined to be 
economically practical. 

Industrial Users who commence discharging hazardous wastes after the effective date of these notification 
requirements shall provide notification no later than 180 days after the discharge of the hazardous waste.  

6-25 Treatment Cost Recovery Fees 

In accordance with the formula below, the Authority shall calculate and collect Treatment Cost Recovery Fees 
for any daily composite sample for BOD, TSS, TKN and Total Phosphorus concentrations in excess of the 
monthly average Wastewater Discharge Permit limit or monthly average concentration as provided in 6-13(13).  
Such fees shall be calculated as the sum of each Treatment Cost Recovery Fee calculated during the monitoring 
period. Treatment Cost Recovery Fees shall be paid by Industrial Users within 45 days of the end of the 
monitoring period. 

Treatment Cost Recovery Fee = 8.345 * (X –Y) * ADF * Z * U 

Where:  

X is each single sample concentration when in excess of the monthly average Wastewater Discharge 
Permit limit (BOD=350 mg/L and TSS=350 mg/L) or monthly average concentration (TKN=70.0 
mg/L and Total Phosphorus=14.0 mg/L) 

Y is the monthly average Wastewater Discharge Permit limit (BOD=350 mg/L and TSS=350 mg/L) 
or monthly average concentration (TKN=70.0 mg/L and Total Phosphorus=14.0 mg/L)  

ADF is the average daily Wastewater flow in million gallons recorded on the day the exceedance 
occurred 

Z is the Pollutant parameter Treatment Cost Recovery Multiplier below 

U is the Pollutant parameter Unit Cost for Treatment in dollars per pound 

Page 28



13

Treatment Cost Recovery Multiplier 

Parameter 1.0 1.5 2.0 3.0 

BOD >350-500 mg/L >500-1,000 mg/L >1,000-1,500 mg/L >1,500 mg/L 

TSS >350-500 mg/L >500-1,000 mg/L >1,000-1,500 mg/L >1,500 mg/L 

TKN >70.0-100 mg/L >100-125 mg/L >125-150 mg/L >150 mg/L 

Total Phosphorus >14.0-20 mg/L >20.0-25 mg/L >25-30 mg/L >30 mg/L 

Nitrate + Nitrite NA NA NA >10.0 mg/L 

The Unit Cost for Treatment (U) shall be as determined by the Authority on an annual or other basis and 
published on the Authority website. 

Notwithstanding the above, for Industrial Users whose principal classification is industry 312120 (breweries), 
312130 (wineries), 312140 (distilleries), 312111 (soft drinks), and other classifications (as approved by the 
Authority) pursuant to the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS), the factor X used for 
calculating the BOD Treatment Cost Recovery Fee may be computed by subtracting sBOD from BOD and 
using the difference, as determined by the Authority on a case-by-case basis.    

Imposition and payment of such fees shall not excuse the exceedance of the underlying Pollutant parameter 
monthly average limit from section 6-13(13), and any such exceedance shall continue to be subject to Authority 
enforcement.  

6-26 Industrial User Monitoring 

Permitted Industrial Users shall be required to monitor their Wastewater Discharges at the following 
frequencies unless stipulated differently in their individual Wastewater Discharge Permit. 

1) All Pollutant parameters except as specified below. 

Average Daily Flow Monitoring Frequency 
<50,000 gpd 1/week 
≥50,000 < 100,000 gpd 2/week 
≥100,000 gpd 3/week 

2) Metals: 1/year. 

3) Oil & Grease: 2/month. 

4) pH at least 1/hour each day for the time period of the Discharge. 

5) If sampling performed by an Industrial User indicates a violation, the User shall notify the Authority 
within 24 hours of becoming aware of the violation.  The User shall also repeat the sampling and 
analysis and submit the results of the repeat analysis to the Authority within 30 days after becoming 
aware of the violation.  Where the Authority has performed the sampling and analysis in lieu of the 
Industrial User, the Authority must perform the repeat sampling and analysis unless it notifies the 
User of the violation and requires the User to perform the repeat analysis.  Resampling is not 
required if: 

a) The Authority performs sampling at the Industrial User at a frequency of at least once per 
month; or 

b) The Authority performs sampling at the User between the time when the initial sampling was 
conducted and the time when the User or the Authority receive the results of this sampling.  

Page 29



14

6-27 Wastewater Discharges 

It shall be unlawful for any Significant Industrial User to discharge without a Wastewater Discharge Permit to 
the System any Wastewater except as authorized by the Authority in accordance with the provision of this 
Ordinance. 

6-28 Wastewater Discharge Permits 

All Significant Industrial Users proposing to connect to or contribute to the System shall obtain from the 
Authority a Wastewater Discharge Permit before connecting to or contributing to the System.  The Authority 
may require any other IU to obtain from the Authority a Wastewater Discharge Permit before connecting to or 
contributing to the System, if the Authority determines that a Wastewater Discharge Permit is beneficial in 
implementing this Ordinance. 

1) Wastewater Discharge Permit Application 

A User required to obtain a Wastewater Discharge Permit shall complete and file with the Authority 
an application in the form prescribed by the Authority.  The Authority shall furnish the Town with a 
copy of the application upon receipt.  Proposed new Users shall apply at least 90 days prior to their 
intent to connect to or contribute to the System.  The application shall include the following 
information. 

a) Name, address of the User and the location of the Discharge if different from such address; 

b) SIC number(s); 

c) Wastewater constituents and characteristics, including but not limited to, those identified in 
subsection 6-13(13) of this Ordinance as determined by a reliable analytical laboratory; and 
sampling and analysis shall be performed in accordance with procedures established in 40 CFR 
Part 136; 

d) Time and duration of contribution; 

e) Average daily and 30-minute peak Wastewater flow rates, including daily, monthly and seasonal 
variations if any; 

f) Site plans showing all sewers and sewer connections by the size, location and elevation and any 
Pretreatment facilities; 

g) Description of Pretreatment facilities and processes on the premises, or those to be installed; 

h) Measurement of Pollutants. (i) The User shall identify the Pretreatment Standards applicable to 
each regulated process; and (ii) the User shall submit the results of sampling and analysis 
identifying the nature and concentration (or mass, where required by an applicable standard or 
the Authority) of regulated Pollutants in the Discharge from each regulated process. Both daily 
maximum and average concentration (or mass, where required) shall be reported. The samples 
shall be representative of daily operations.  In cases where the standard or local limit requires 
compliance with a Best Management Practice or pollution prevention alternative, the User shall 
submit documentation as required by the Authority or the applicable standards to determine 
compliance with the standard.  

Further (iii) a minimum of four (4) Grab Samples must be used for pH, cyanide, total phenols, 
oil and grease, sulfide, and volatile organics.  For all other Pollutants, 24-hour composite 
samples must be obtained through flow-proportional composite sampling techniques where 
feasible.  The Authority may waive flow-proportional composite sampling for any Industrial 
User that demonstrates that flow-proportional sampling is infeasible.  In such cases, samples 
may be obtained through time-proportional composite sampling techniques or through a 
minimum of four (4) Grab Samples where the User demonstrates that this will provide a 

Page 30



15

representative sample of the effluent being discharged. The User shall (iv) take a minimum of 
one representative sample to compile the data necessary to comply with the requirements of this 
section; (v) samples shall be taken immediately downstream from Pretreatment facilities if such 
exist or immediately downstream from the regulated process if no Pretreatment exists.  If other 
Wastewaters are mixed with the regulated Wastewater prior to Pretreatment, the User shall 
measure the flows and concentrations necessary to allow use of the combined wastestream 
formula of 40 CFR § 403.6(e) in order to evaluate compliance with the Pretreatment Standards. 

Where a proposed alternate concentration or mass limit has been calculated in accordance with 
the combined wastestream formula of 40 CFR § 403.6(e), this adjusted limit along with 
supporting data shall be submitted to the Authority. This paragraph pertains to Users subject to 
Categorical Standards. 

In the case of Users not subject to Categorical Standards, the Authority shall specify on the 
Wastewater Discharge Permit application which Pollutants are to be sampled (including sample 
type and number) and tested. 

i) If additional Pretreatment and/or operation and maintenance will be required to meet the 
Pretreatment Standards or Requirements, the shortest schedule by which the User is able to 
provide such additional Pretreatment.  The completion date in this schedule shall not be later 
than the compliance date established for the applicable Pretreatment Standard or otherwise by 
this Ordinance. 

The following conditions shall apply to this schedule: 

(i) The schedule shall contain increments of progress in the form of dates for the 
commencement and completion of major events leading to the construction and operation 
of additional Pretreatment required for the User to meet the applicable Pretreatment 
Standards or Requirements (e.g. hiring an engineer, completing preliminary plans, 
completing final plans, executing contract for major components, commencing 
construction, completing construction, etc.). 

(ii)   No increment referred to in the preceding paragraph shall exceed nine (9) months. 

(iii) Not later than 14 days following each date in the schedule and the final date for 
compliance, the User shall submit a progress report to the Authority including, at a 
minimum, whether or not it complied with the increment of progress to be met on such 
date and, if not, the date on which it expects to comply with such increment of progress, 
the reason for delay, and the steps being taken by the User to return the construction to the 
schedule established.  In no event shall more than nine (9) months elapse between such 
progress reports to the Authority. 

j) A list of products produced; 

k) Type of raw material processed; and 

l) Any other information as may be required by the Authority to evaluate the Wastewater 
Discharge Permit application.  The Authority will evaluate the data furnished by the User and 
may require additional information. After evaluation and acceptance of the data furnished, the 
Authority may issue a Wastewater Discharge Permit subject to the terms and conditions 
provided herein; or the Authority may decline to issue the Wastewater Discharge Permit. 

2) Wastewater Discharge Permit Modifications 

The Authority may reopen and modify a Wastewater Discharge Permit for good cause, including 
without limitation for the following reasons. 

a) To incorporate any new or revised Pretreatment Standard or Requirement. 

Page 31



16

b) To address significant alterations to the User’s processes or Discharge. 

c) A change in the Authority’s facilities or processes or the regulatory requirements applicable to 
the Authority. 

d) To correct typographical or other errors in the Wastewater Discharge Permit. 

e) On the request of the permittee for good cause shown. 

3) Wastewater Discharge Permit Conditions 

Wastewater Discharge Permits shall be expressly subject to all provisions of this Ordinance and all 
other applicable regulations, User charges and fees established by the Authority or the Town.  
Wastewater Discharge Permits shall contain the following: 

a) Statement of duration (in no case more than five (5) years); 

b) Statement of non-transferability without, at a minimum, prior notification to the Authority and 
Town, a signed agreement between the current and new permittees stating and agreeing to the 
date of transfer, and approval of the transfer by the Authority.  The Authority may in its 
discretion require a new Wastewater Discharge Permit application from the proposed new 
owner; 

c) Effluent limits, including Best Management Practices, based on applicable general 
Pretreatment Standards, Categorical Pretreatment Standards, and the requirements of this 
Ordinance; 

d) Self-monitoring, sampling, reporting, notification and recordkeeping requirements, including 
an identification of the Pollutants to be monitored, sampling location, sampling frequency, and 
sample type; 

e) Statement of applicable civil and criminal penalties for violation of the Wastewater Discharge 
Permit, Pretreatment Standards and Requirements, and any applicable compliance schedule.  
Such schedules may not extend the compliance date beyond applicable federal deadlines; 

f) Limits on average and maximum rate and time of Discharge or requirements for flow 
regulations and equalization, if determined necessary by the Authority; 

g) Requirements for installation and maintenance of inspection and sampling facilities, if 
determined necessary by the Executive Director; 

h) Requirements for maintaining and retaining plant records relating to Wastewaters and 
Discharge as specified by the Authority, and affording the Authority access thereto; 

i) Requirements for notification of the Authority of any new introduction of Wastewater 
constituents or any substantial change in the volume or character of the Wastewater 
constituents being introduced into the System; 

j) Requirements for immediate notification of all Discharges that could cause problems to the 
System, including any Slug Loading; 

k) Requirements for slug discharge control, if determined necessary by the Authority.  A slug 
control plan shall contain, at a minimum, the following elements: description of discharge 
practices, including non-routine batch discharges; description of stored chemicals; procedures 
for immediately notifying the Authority of slug discharges, with procedures for a follow-up 
written notification within five days; and, if necessary, procedures to prevent adverse impact 
from accidental spills, including inspection and maintenance of storage areas, handling and 

Page 32



17

transfer of materials, loading and unloading operations, control of plant site run-off, worker 
training, building of containment structures or equipment, measures for containing toxic 
organic pollutants (including solvents), and/or measures and equipment for emergency 
response. 

l) Statement that the Wastewater Discharge Permit may be reopened and modified as determined 
necessary by the Authority; and 

m) Other conditions as determined appropriate by the Authority to ensure compliance with this 
Ordinance. 

4) Wastewater Discharge Permit Duration 

Wastewater Discharge Permits shall be issued for a specified time period, not to exceed five (5) years.  
The User shall apply for Wastewater Discharge Permit renewal at least 180 days prior to the expiration 
of the User’s existing Wastewater Discharge Permit.  The terms and conditions of the new Wastewater 
Discharge Permit may be subject to modification by the Authority.  The User shall be informed of 
any proposed changes in its Wastewater Discharge Permit at least 30 days prior to the effective date 
of change.  Any changes or new conditions in the Wastewater Discharge Permit shall include if 
necessary and consistent with legal requirements a reasonable time schedule for compliance. 

If the permittee has submitted a complete reapplication no later than the date identified in the 
immediately preceding paragraph, and the Authority has not, through any fault of the permittee, made 
a decision on Wastewater Discharge Permit reissuance, the Wastewater Discharge Permit shall be 
administratively extended and remain in effect until a final decision on the Wastewater Discharge 
Permit by the Authority. 

5) Supplemental Wastewater Discharge Permit Provisions 

a) Performance Bonds  Reserve 

b) Liability Insurance  Reserve

c) Payment of Outstanding Fees and Penalties  Reserve 

d) Disclosure Statements (compliance information on User and key personnel)  Reserve 

6) Wastewater Discharge Permit Transfer 

Wastewater Discharge Permit shall be issued to a specific User for a specific operation at a specific 
location.  A Wastewater Discharge Permit shall not be assigned, transferred or sold to another Person 
or User except as provided in subsection 6-28(3)(b),and shall not be applicable to a different premises 
or a new or changed operation without the approval of the Authority. 

6-29 Reporting Requirements 

1) Baseline Report  

Within 180 days after the effective date of a Categorical Standard, existing Industrial Users subject to 
such standards and currently discharging to or scheduled to discharge to the System shall submit to 
the Authority a report which contains the information listed in subparagraphs (a) - (g) below. At least 
90 days prior to commencement of discharge, New Sources, and sources that become Industrial Users 
subsequent to the promulgation of an applicable Categorical Standard, shall submit to the Authority 
a report which contains the information listed in subparagraphs (a) - (e) below. New Sources shall 
also be required to include in this report information on the method of Pretreatment the source intends 
to use to meet applicable Pretreatment standards. New Sources shall give estimates of the information 
requested in subparagraphs (d) and (e) of this section: 

Page 33



18

a) Identifying information. The name and address of the facility including the name of the operator 
and owners; 

b) Permits. A list of any environmental control permits held by or for the facility; 

c) Description of operations. A brief description of the nature, average rate of production, and SIC 
of the operation(s) carried out by such Industrial User. This description shall include a schematic 
process diagram which identifies points of Discharge to the System from the regulated processes; 

d) Flow measurement. Information showing the measured average daily and maximum daily flow, 
in gallons per day, to the System from each of the following: 

i. Regulated process streams; and 

ii. Other streams as necessary to allow use of the combined wastestream formula of 40 CFR § 
403.6(e). 

The Authority may allow for verifiable estimates of these flows where justified by cost or 
feasibility considerations. 

e) Measurement of Pollutants. The Categorical Standards applicable to each regulated process.  In 
addition, the User shall submit the results of sampling and analysis identifying the nature and 
concentration (or mass, where required by the standard or the Authority) of regulated Pollutants 
in the Discharge from each regulated process. Both daily maximum and average concentration 
(or mass, where required) shall be reported. The sample shall be representative of daily 
operations. In cases where the standard requires compliance with a Best Management Practice or 
pollution prevention alternative, the User shall submit documentation as required by the 
Authority or the applicable standards to determine compliance with the standard.  The User shall 
take a minimum of one representative sample to compile that data necessary to comply with the 
requirements of this subsection.  Samples shall be taken immediately downstream from 
Pretreatment facilities if such exist or immediately downstream from the regulated process if no 
Pretreatment exists. If other Wastewaters are mixed with the regulated Wastewater prior to 
Pretreatment, the User shall measure the flows and concentrations necessary to allow use of the 
combined wastestream formula of 40 CFR § 403.6(e) in order to evaluate compliance with the 
standards. Where an alternate concentration or mass limit has been calculated in accordance with 
this Ordinance, this adjusted limit along with supporting data shall be submitted to the Authority.   

The Authority may allow the submission of a baseline report which utilizes only historical data 
so long as the data provides information sufficient to determine the need for industrial 
Pretreatment measures.  

The baseline report shall indicate the time, date and place, of sampling, and methods of analysis, 
and shall certify that such sampling and analysis is representative of normal work cycles and 
expected Pollutant Discharges to the System.   

f) Certification. A statement, reviewed by an Authorized representative of the Industrial User and 
certified to by a qualified professional, stating whether standards are being met on a consistent 
basis, and, if not, whether additional operation and maintenance and/or additional Pretreatment 
is required for the Industrial User to meet the standards; and 

g)  Compliance schedule. If additional Pretreatment and/or O&M will be required to meet the 
standards; the shortest schedule by which the Industrial User will provide such additional 
Pretreatment and/or O&M. The completion date in this schedule shall not be later than the 
compliance date established for the applicable standard. 

Where the Industrial User's Categorical Pretreatment Standard has been modified by a removal 
allowance (40 CFR § 403.7), the combined wastestream formula (40 CFR § 403.6(e)), and/or a 
Fundamentally Different Factors variance (40 CFR § 403.13) at the time the User submits the 

Page 34



19

report required, the information required by subparagraphs (f) and (g) of this section shall pertain 
to the modified limits.  If the Categorical Pretreatment Standard is modified by a removal 
allowance, the combined wastestream formula, and/or a Fundamentally Different Factors 
variance after the User submits the report required by this section, any necessary amendments 
to the information requested by paragraphs (f) and (g) shall be submitted by the User to the 
Authority within 60 days after the modified limit is approved. 

2) Compliance schedule for meeting Categorical Standards. The following conditions shall apply to the 
schedule required by paragraph (1)(g) of this section:  The schedule shall contain increments of 
progress in the form of dates for the commencement and completion of major events leading to the 
construction and operation of additional Pretreatment required for the Industrial User to meet the 
applicable Categorical Standards (e.g., hiring an engineer, completing preliminary plans, completing 
final plans, executing contract for major components, commencing construction, completing 
construction, etc.).  No increment shall exceed nine (9) months.  Not later than 14 days following each 
date in the schedule and the final date for compliance, the Industrial User shall submit a progress 
report to the Authority including, at a minimum, whether or not it complied with the increment of 
progress to be met on such date and, if not, the date on which it expects to comply with this increment 
of progress, the reason for delay, and the steps being taken by the Industrial User to return the 
construction to the schedule established. In no event shall more than nine (9) months elapse between 
such progress reports to the Authority. 

3) Categorical Standard Deadline Compliance  

Within 90 days following the date for final compliance with applicable Categorical Standards or in 
the case of a New Source following commencement of the introduction of Wastewater into the 
System, the User shall submit to the Authority a report including the information described in 
subsections (1)(d) – (f) above.  For Industrial Users subject to equivalent mass or concentration limits 
established by the Authority, this report shall contain a reasonable measure of the User's long term 
production rate. For all other Industrial Users subject to Categorical Standards expressed in terms of 
allowable Pollutant Discharge per unit of production (or other measure of operation), this report shall 
include the User's actual production during the appropriate sampling period. 

4) Periodic Reports on Continued Compliance  

After the compliance date of a Categorical Standard or, in the case of a New Source, after 
commencement of the Discharge into the System, any User subject to a Categorical Standard shall 
submit to the Authority during the months of June and December, unless required more frequently by 
the Authority, a report identifying the nature and concentration of Pollutants in the effluent which are 
limited by such standards.  In addition, this report shall include a record of measured or estimated 
average and maximum daily flows for the reporting period.  At the discretion of the Authority and in 
consideration of such factors as local high or low flow rates, holidays, budget cycles, etc., the 
Authority may agree to alter the months during which the above reports are to be submitted.  In cases 
where the standard requires compliance with a Best Management Practice or other pollution 
prevention alternative, the User shall submit documentation required by the Authority or the standard 
necessary to determine the compliance status of the User. 

5) Reports and applications submitted by an Industrial User must be signed by a responsible corporate 
officer or a duly Authorized representative of that individual.  (i) A responsible corporate officer is 
defined as the president, secretary, treasurer or vice president of the corporation in charge of the 
principal business function, or any other person who performs similar policy-making or decision-
making functions for the corporation.  In addition, the manager of one or more manufacturing, 
production or operating facility(ies) of the corporation, provided, the manager is authorized to make 
management decisions that govern the operation of the regulated facility including having the explicit 
or implicit duty of making major capital investment recommendations, and initiate and direct other 
comprehensive measures to assure long-term environmental compliance with environmental laws and 
regulations; can ensure that the necessary systems are established or actions taken to gather complete 
and accurate information for discharge permit requirements; and where authority to sign documents 
has been assigned or delegated to the manager in accordance with corporate procedures. (ii) By a 

Page 35



20

general partner or proprietor if the industrial user submitting the reports required by subsections 6-
29(1), (2), and (3) of this section is a partnership or sole proprietorship, respectively.  (iii) By a duly 
authorized representative of the individual designated in (i) or (ii) of this subsection if: 

a. The authorization is made in writing by the individual described in subdivision (i) or (ii) of this 
subsection; 

b. The authorization specifies either an individual or a position having responsibility for the overall 
operation of the facility from which the industrial discharge originates, such as the position of 
plant manager, operator of a well, or well field superintendent, or a position of equivalent 
responsibility, or having overall responsibility for environmental matters for the company; and 

c. The written authorization is submitted to the Authority. 

(iv) If an authorization under subdivision (iii) of this subsection is no longer accurate because a 
different individual or position has responsibility for the overall operation of the facility, or overall 
responsibility for environmental matters for the company, a new authorization satisfying the 
requirements of subdivision (iii) of this subsection must be submitted to the control authority prior to 
or together with any reports to be signed by an authorized representative. 

The following statement shall be used on all reports, application and notices requiring certification, 
and with all submissions of data; 

“I certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were prepared under my 
direction or supervision in accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel 
properly gather and evaluate the information submitted.  Based on my inquiry of the person or persons 
who manage the system, or those persons directly responsible for gathering the information, the 
information submitted is, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate and complete.  I am 
aware that there are significant penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of 
fines and imprisonment for knowing violations.” 

6) The reports required in 3) of this subsection must be based upon data obtained through appropriate 
sampling and analysis performed during the period covered by the report, which data are 
representative of conditions occurring during the reporting period. The Authority shall require that 
frequency of monitoring necessary to assess and assure compliance by Industrial Users with 
applicable local limits, pretreatment standards and requirements. Grab samples must be used for pH, 
cyanide, total phenols, oil and grease, sulfide, and volatile organic compounds. For all other 
pollutants, 24-hour composite samples must be obtained through flow-proportional composite 
sampling techniques, unless time-proportional composite sampling or grab sampling is authorized by 
the Authority. Where time-proportional composite sampling or grab sampling is authorized by the 
Authority, the samples must be representative of the discharge and the decision to allow the alternative 
sampling must be documented in the Industrial User file for that facility or facilities. Using protocols 
(including appropriate preservation) specified in 40 CFR Part 136 and appropriate EPA guidance, 
multiple grab samples collected during a 24-hour period may be composited prior to the analysis as 
follows:  for cyanide, total phenols, and sulfides the samples may be composited in the laboratory or 
in the field; for volatile organics and oil and grease, the samples may be composited in the laboratory. 
Composite samples for other parameters unaffected by the compositing procedures as documented in 
approved EPA methodologies may be authorized by the Authority, as appropriate.  

7) For sampling required in support of baseline monitoring and 90-day compliance reports required by 
6-29(1) and 6-29(2) in this section, a minimum of four grab samples must be used for pH, cyanide, 
total phenols, oil and grease, sulfide and volatile organic compounds for facilities for which historical 
sampling data do not exist; for facilities for which historical sampling data are available, the Authority 
may authorize a lower minimum.  For the reports required by 6-29(3) and 6-29(9) of this section, the 
Authority shall require the number of grab samples necessary to assess and assure compliance by 
Industrial Users with applicable local limits, pretreatment standards and requirements. 

8) The Authority may impose mass limitations on Users which are using dilution to meet applicable 
Pretreatment Standards or Requirements, or in other cases where the imposition of mass limitations 

Page 36



21

are appropriate.  In such cases, the report required by the provisions above shall identify the mass of 
Pollutants regulated by the standards in the effluent of the User. 

9) All analyses shall be performed in accordance with procedures established by EPA in 40 CFR Part 
136.  Sampling shall be performed in accordance with the techniques designed and implemented to 
obtain representative samples. 

If an Industrial User subject to the reporting requirement in this section monitors any regulated 
pollutant at the appropriate sampling location more frequently than required by the Authority using 
the procedures prescribed above in 8), the results of this monitoring shall be reported. 

10) Reporting requirements for Industrial Users not subject to categorical pretreatment standards.  The 
Authority must require appropriate reporting from those Industrial Users with Discharges that are 
not subject to categorical pretreatment standards. Significant noncategorical Industrial Users must 
submit to the Authority at least once every six months (on dates specified by the Authority) a 
description of the nature, concentration, and flow of the pollutants required to be reported by the 
Authority. In cases where a local limit requires compliance with a Best Management Practice or 
pollution prevention alternative, the User must submit documentation required by the Authority to 
determine the compliance status of the User. These reports must be based on sampling and analysis 
performed in the period covered by the report, and in accordance with the techniques described in 
40 CFR Part 136 and amendments thereto. This sampling and analysis may be performed by the 
Authority in lieu of the Significant noncategorical Industrial User. 

11) Any Industrial User subject to the reporting requirement established in this section shall maintain 
records of all information resulting from any monitoring activities required by this section including 
documentation associated with Best Management Practices.  Such records shall include for all 
samples: (i) the date, exact place, method, and time of sampling and the names of the person or persons 
taking the samples; (ii) the dates analyses were performed; (iii) the individuals who performed the 
analyses; (iv) the analytic methods used; and (v) the result of such analyses. 

Any Industrial User subject to the reporting requirements established in this section (including 
documentation associated with Best Management Practices) shall be required to retain for a minimum 
of three years any records of monitoring activities and results (whether or not such monitoring 
activities are required by this section) and shall make such records available for inspection and 
copying on the request of the Authority.  This period of retention shall be extended during the course 
of any unresolved litigation regarding the Industrial User or when requested by the Authority. 

6-30 Monitoring and Pretreatment Facilities 

1) Monitoring Facilities 

Each User required to monitor its Wastewater shall provide and operate at the User’s expense, 
monitoring facilities to allow inspection, sampling and flow measurement of the Building Sewer 
and/or internal drainage systems.  The monitoring facility should normally be situated on the User’s 
premises, but when such location would be impractical or cause undue hardship on the User, if 
approved by the Town, the Authority may approve a facility to be constructed in the public street or 
sidewalk area and located so that it will not be obstructed by landscaping or parked vehicles. 

There shall be ample room in or near such sampling manhole or facility to allow accurate sampling 
and preparation of samples for analysis.  The facility, sampling and measuring equipment shall be 
maintained at all times in a safe and proper operating condition at the expense of the User. 

Whether constructed on public or private property, the sampling and monitoring facilities shall be 
provided in accordance with the Authority’s requirements and all applicable local construction 
standards and specifications, and shall be available for the Authority’s inspection and use for 
sampling. 

Page 37



22

2) Pretreatment Facilities 

Users shall provide necessary Pretreatment as required to comply with this Ordinance and shall 
achieve compliance with all Pretreatment Standards and Requirements within the time limitations as 
specified by this Ordinance, the Wastewater Discharge Permit, any Order or federal Pretreatment 
Standards, whichever is more stringent.  Any facilities required to pretreat Wastewater to a level 
acceptable to the Authority shall be proven, operated and maintained at the User’s expense. Detailed 
plans showing the Pretreatment facilities and operating procedures shall be submitted to the Authority 
for review, and shall be acceptable to the Authority before construction of the facility.  The review of 
such plans and operating procedures will in no way relieve the User from the responsibility of 
modifying the facility as necessary to produce an effluent acceptable to the Authority under the 
provisions of this Ordinance.  Any subsequent changes in the Pretreatment facilities or method of 
operation shall be reported to and be acceptable to the Authority prior to the User’s initiation of the 
changes.  All records relating to compliance with Pretreatment Standards and Requirements shall be 
made available to officials of the EPA, the Virginia Department of Environmental Quality, the Town 
and the Authority upon request. 

6-31 Inspection and Sampling 

The Authority shall (i) randomly sample and analyze the effluent from Industrial Users and conduct 
surveillance activities in order to identify, independent of information supplied by the Industrial Users, 
occasional and continuing noncompliance with Pretreatment Standards or Requirements; (ii) inspect 
and sample the effluent from each Significant Industrial User at least once a year; and (iii) evaluate, 
at least once every two years, whether each such Significant Industrial User needs a plan to control 
Slug Loadings.  In addition, Significant Industrial Users must be evaluated within one year of being 
designated a Significant Industrial User.  If the Authority determines that a Slug Loading plan is 
needed, such plan shall contain at a minimum, the elements outlined in Section 6-28(3)(k) and set 
forth in 40 CFR § 403.8(f)(2)(vi).  The Authority may inspect such facilities to ensure compliance.  
All Users shall allow representatives of the Town and the Authority access at all reasonable times to 
all parts of the premises for the purposes of inspection, sampling, records examination (including the 
right to copy such records) and the performance of any of their duties.  The Town and the Authority 
shall have the right to set upon the User’s property such devices as are necessary to conduct sampling, 
inspection, compliance monitoring and/or metering operations.  Where a User has security measures 
in force which would require proper identification and clearance before entry into its premises, the 
User shall make necessary arrangements with its security guards so that upon presentation of suitable 
identification, personnel from the Town and/or the Authority will be permitted to enter, without delay, 
for the purposes of performing their specific responsibilities. 

In addition, all Users shall pay to the Town or the Authority all reasonable and necessary costs 
incurred by the Town or the Authority in connection with inspections, Wastewater monitoring, 
sampling and testing. 

6-32 Confidential Information 

Information and data of a User obtained from reports, questionnaires, Wastewater Discharge Permit 
applications, Wastewater Discharge Permits, monitoring programs and inspections shall be available 
to the public without restriction unless the User specifically identifies such information as being 
business confidential or proprietary and requests that such information remain confidential.  
Information and data identified and marked by the User as business confidential or proprietary will 
be held confidential by the Authority and the Town to the extent permissible under law.  Information 
and data concerning effluent data cannot be claimed as confidential. 

6-33 Harmful Contributions 

1) The Authority or Town may suspend the Wastewater Treatment service or a Wastewater Discharge  
Permit or cut off the sewer connection when the Authority or Town determines such suspension or 
cut off to be necessary, in order to stop a Discharge which: 

Page 38



23

a) presents or may present an imminent or substantial endangerment to the health or welfare of 
persons; 

b) presents or may present an imminent or substantial endangerment to the environment; 

c) may cause or actually causes an Interference or Pass Through; or 

d) may cause the Authority to violate any condition of its VPDES Permit. 

2) The Authority or Town may reinstate the Wastewater Discharge Permit or the Wastewater Treatment 
service upon proof of the elimination of the subject Discharge. 

3) In the event of a suspension or cut-off under this section, within 15 days the User shall submit a written 
report to the Authority and Town describing the event that caused the conditions of concern and the 
measures taken to prevent any recurrence. 

6-34 Revocation of Wastewater Discharge Permit 

The Authority may revoke any Wastewater Discharge Permit if it determines that: 

1) A User has falsified information or records submitted or retained in accordance with this Ordinance 
or in connection with any Wastewater Discharge Permit issued pursuant to this Ordinance; 

2) A User has violated the conditions of a Wastewater Discharge Permit; 

3) A User has refused right of entry required by this Ordinance; 

4) A User has failed to timely re-apply for a Wastewater Discharge Permit or request a required 
Wastewater Discharge Permit modification; 

5) A User has discharged into the System in violation of this Ordinance; or 

6) Changed circumstance(s) require a temporary or permanent reduction or elimination of the permitted 
Discharge. 

6-35 Notice of Violation 

1) Issuance.  The Authority may issue a written Notice of Violation if there are reasonable grounds to 
believe that the Person to whom the Notice of Violation is directed has violated: 

a) This Ordinance; 

b) Any requirement imposed under this Ordinance; or 

c) Any Order or Wastewater Discharge Permit issued under this Ordinance. 

2) Contents. A Notice of Violation issued under this section shall: 

a) Specify the provision(s) that allegedly has been violated:  

b) State the alleged facts that constitute the violation; 

c) Require a written response;  

d) Require correction of the cause of the violation alleged; and/or 

e) Require the User’s appearance at an informal hearing at a time and place scheduled in order to 
respond to the charges in the Notice of Violation. 

Page 39



24

6-36 Issuance of Compliance Order 

1) In general. After or concurrent with the issuance of a Notice of Violation under this Ordinance, the 
Authority may: 

a) Issue a Compliance Order that requires the Person to whom the Order is directed to take corrective 
action within a time set in the Order; and/or 

b) To appear at an informal hearing at a time and place scheduled in order to respond to the charges 
in the Order. 

2) Effective Date of Compliance Order. Unless and until the Person subject to the Order makes a timely 
request for an informal hearing, the Order is according to its terms a final and effective Order.  If the 
Person to whom an Order is directed makes a timely request for a Hearing, the order becomes a final 
Compliance Order when the Authority renders its decision following the Hearing. 

3) Emergency Compliance Order.  Nothing herein shall prevent the Authority from issuing an 
Emergency Compliance Order, when conditions warrant, which shall be a final Order when it is 
delivered to the User and during any informal hearing process, subject to later withdrawal or change 
by the Authority.  

6-37 User Informal Hearing Requests 

1) Hearing.  Within 10 days after the date of a Notice of Violation or Compliance Order for which the 
Authority has not scheduled an informal hearing, the Person to whom the Notice of Violation or 
Compliance Order is directed may request a hearing by written request to the Executive Director. 

2) Upon such request by a User, the Executive Director shall schedule an informal hearing before such 
Person as the Executive Director designates, unless he/she determines that the request for a hearing is 
frivolous or insubstantial. 

3) Following any such hearing, the Authority may take further enforcement or other action that it 
determines to be necessary. 

6-38 Injunctive Relief. 

The Authority or Town may bring an action for an injunction against any Person who violates any provision 
of this Ordinance or any Order or Wastewater Discharge Permit issued under this Ordinance.   

6-39 Administrative Civil Penalties, Special Orders 

In the event of a violation(s) of this Ordinance, or an Order or Wastewater Discharge Permit hereunder, the 
Executive Director or his designee may issue to the offending Person a Special Order assessing an 
administrative civil penalty and requiring other appropriate relief.  No Special Order shall be issued until after 
the Person accused of the violation has been provided an opportunity for a hearing, except with the consent of 
such Person. The notice of the hearing shall be served personally or by registered or certified mail, return 
receipt requested, on such Person or any Authorized representative of such Person at least 30 days prior to the 
hearing. The notice shall specify the time and place for the hearing, facts and legal requirements related to the 
alleged violation, and the amount of any proposed administrative civil penalty. At the hearing the Person 
accused of the violation may present evidence including witnesses regarding the occurrence of the alleged 
violation and the amount of the penalty, and may examine any witnesses for the Authority. A verbatim record 
of the hearing shall be made. Within 30 days after the conclusion of the hearing, the Executive Director or his 
designee shall make findings of fact and conclusions of law and either issue the Special Order, withdraw the 
matter, or take other appropriate action. 

No Special Order shall assess an administrative civil penalty in excess of $32,500 per violation, or $100,000 
in total, except with the consent of the subject of the Special Order. The actual amount of any administrative 

Page 40



25

civil penalty assessed shall be based upon the severity of the violations, the extent of any potential or actual 
environmental harm or facility damage, the compliance history of the Person, any economic benefit realized 
from the noncompliance, and the ability of the Person to pay the penalty. In addition to administrative civil 
penalties, the Special Order may include a monetary assessment for actual damages to sewers, Treatment works 
and appurtenances and for costs, attorney fees and other expenses resulting from the violations, absent the 
consent of the Person in the Order. Civil penalties in excess of the maximum amounts established herein may 
be imposed only by a Virginia court of competent jurisdiction in amounts determined in its discretion but not 
to exceed the maximum amounts established in Virginia Code section 62.1-44.32.  

This section shall not impair the Authority’s right to proceed for penalty or other relief on other applicable 
authorities.  Each day during which a violation is found to have occurred shall constitute a separate violation, 
other than any violation that is by its nature only as to matters occurring over a period in excess of a single day.  
An admission or finding of liability under this section shall not be deemed an admission in any criminal 
proceeding, and no civil action authorized by the section shall proceed while a criminal action is proceeding.  
Any Special Order issued by the Authority, whether or not assessing an administrative civil penalty, shall 
inform the Person of his right to seek reconsideration or review by the Executive Director and of his right to 
judicial review of any final Special Order.  Reconsideration or review shall be initiated by written request to 
the Executive Director filed within 30 days of the date of the Special Order.  The Executive Director’s decision 
on reconsideration or review shall be provided in writing.  Judicial review shall be available only if the subject 
of the Special Order has first exhausted his opportunity for administrative reconsideration or review.  An appeal 
shall be to Circuit Court on the record of proceedings before the Authority. To commence an appeal, the Person 
shall file a Petition in Circuit Court within 30 days of the date of the final decision on the Special Order on 
reconsideration or review, and failure to do so shall constitute a waiver of the right to appeal. With respect to 
matters of law, the burden shall be on the party seeking review to designate and demonstrate an error of law 
subject to review by the court. With respect to issues of fact, the duty of the court shall be limited to ascertaining 
whether there was substantial evidence in the record to reasonably support such findings. 

6-40 Surcharge 

The Authority may impose a surcharge on each Member Jurisdiction, User or Discharge which exceeds the 
limitations specified in this Ordinance, sufficient to recover any costs that result either directly or indirectly 
from such exceedance.  The assessment or payment of any such surcharge shall not constitute an acceptance 
of such wastes by the Authority, and shall not prevent the Authority from any other enforcement or other 
actions under this Ordinance in response to such exceedance. 

6-41 Defenses to Wastewater Discharge Permit Violations  

1) Upset.  For the purposes of this section, Upset means an exceptional incident in which there is 
unintentional and temporary noncompliance with Categorical Pretreatment Standards or Pretreatment 
Requirements because of factors beyond the reasonable control of the Industrial User. An Upset does 
not include noncompliance to the extent caused by operational error, improperly designed Treatment 
facilities, inadequate Treatment facilities, lack of preventive maintenance, or careless or improper 
operation.  An Upset shall constitute an affirmative defense to an action brought for noncompliance 
with Categorical Pretreatment Standards or Pretreatment Requirements if the requirements of 
subsection 4.9(1)(a) are met. 

a) Conditions necessary for a demonstration of Upset. An Industrial User who wishes to establish 
the affirmative defense of Upset shall demonstrate, through properly signed, contemporaneous 
operating logs, or other relevant evidence that: 

(i) An Upset occurred and the Industrial User can identify the cause(s) of the Upset; 

(ii) The facility was at the time being operated in a prudent and workman-like manner and in 
compliance with applicable operation and maintenance procedures; and 

(iii) The Industrial User has submitted the following information to the Authority within 24 hours 
of becoming aware of the Upset (if this information is provided orally, a written submission 
must be provided within five days): 

Page 41



26

A description of the Indirect Discharge and cause of noncompliance; 

The period of noncompliance, including exact dates and times or, if not corrected, the 
anticipated time the noncompliance is expected to continue; and 

Steps being taken and/or planned to reduce, eliminate and prevent recurrence of the 
noncompliance. 

b) Burden of Proof. In any enforcement proceeding the Industrial User seeking to establish the 
occurrence of an Upset shall have the burden of proof.  

c) Reviewability of Authority consideration of claims of Upset. No determinations made in the 
course of the review shall constitute final Authority action subject to judicial review. Industrial 
Users will have the opportunity for a determination on any claim of Upset only in an enforcement 
action brought for noncompliance with Categorical Pretreatment Standards. 

d) User responsibility in case of Upset. The Industrial User shall production or all Discharges to the 
extent necessary to maintain compliance with Categorical Pretreatment Standards upon 
reduction, loss, or failure of its Pretreatment facility until the facility is restored or an alternative 
method of Treatment is provided. This requirement applies in the situation where, among other 
things, the primary source of power of the Pretreatment facility is reduced, lost or fails. 

e) The treatment cost recovery fees, outlined in section 6-25, still apply regardless of the cause or 
length of the Upset. 

2) Bypass.  Bypass means the intentional diversion of wastestreams from any portion of an Industrial 
User's Pretreatment facility. Severe property damage means substantial physical damage to property, 
damage to the Treatment facilities which causes them to become inoperable, or substantial and 
permanent loss of natural resources which can reasonably be expected to occur in the absence of a 
Bypass. Severe property damage does not mean economic loss caused by delays in production. 

a) Bypass not violating applicable Categorical Standards or Pretreatment Requirements. An 
Industrial User may allow any Bypass to occur which does not cause Categorical Standards or 
Pretreatment Requirements to be violated, but only if it also is for essential maintenance to assure 
efficient operation. These bypasses are not subject to the provision of paragraphs (b) and (c) of 
this subsection. 

b) Notice. If an Industrial User knows in advance of the need for a Bypass, it shall submit prior 
notice to the Authority, if possible at least ten days before the date of the Bypass. An Industrial 
User shall submit oral notice of an unanticipated Bypass that exceeds applicable standards to the 
Authority within 24 hours from the time the Industrial User becomes aware of the Bypass. A 
written submission shall also be provided within 5 days of the time the Industrial User becomes 
aware of the Bypass. The written submission shall contain a description of the Bypass and its 
cause; the duration of the Bypass, including exact dates and times, and, if the Bypass has not been 
corrected, the anticipated time it is expected to continue; and steps taken or planned to reduce, 
eliminate, and prevent reoccurrence of the Bypass. The Authority may waive the written report 
on a case-by-case basis if the oral report has been received within 24 hours. 

c) Prohibition of bypass. Bypass is prohibited, and the Authority may take enforcement action 
against an Industrial User for a Bypass, unless; 

(i) Bypass was unavoidable to prevent loss of life, personal injury, or severe property damage; 

(ii) There were no feasible alternatives to the Bypass, such as the use of auxiliary Treatment 
facilities, retention of untreated wastes, or maintenance during normal periods of equipment 
downtime. This condition is not satisfied if adequate back-up equipment should have been 
installed in the exercise of reasonable engineering judgment to prevent a Bypass which 

Page 42



27

occurred during normal periods of equipment downtime or preventative maintenance; and 

(iii) The Industrial User submitted notices as required under subsection 6-41(2)((b). The 
Authority may approve an anticipated Bypass, after considering its adverse effects, if the 
Authority determines that it will meet the three conditions listed in this subsection (c). 

d) The treatment cost recovery fees, outlined in section 6-25, still apply regardless of the cause or 
length of the Bypass. 

6-42 Public Notice of Significant Noncompliance 

At least annually the Authority shall give public notification in the largest daily newspaper published in 
Rockingham County (Daily News-Record), of Industrial Users which were in significant noncompliance with 
applicable Pretreatment Standards or other Pretreatment Requirements.  For the purposes of this provision, a 
User is in significant noncompliance if its violations meet one of more of the following criteria:  (i) chronic 
violations of Wastewater Discharge limits, defined as those in which sixty-six percent or more of all of the 
measurements taken during a six-month period exceed (by any magnitude) the daily maximum limit or the 
average limit for the same Pollutant parameter, including instantaneous limits, as defined by 9VAC25-31-10; 
(ii) technical review criteria (TRC) violations defined as those in which thirty-three percent or more of all of 
the measurements for each Pollutant parameter taken during a six-month period equal or exceed the product of 
the daily average maximum limit or the average limit, including instantaneous limits, as defined by 9VAC25-
31-10; multiplied by times the applicable TRC (TRC = 1.4 for BOD, TSS, fats, oil, and grease, and 1.2 for all 
other Pollutants except pH); (iii) any other violation of a Pretreatment effluent limit or requirement as defined 
by 9VAC25-31-10 (daily maximum, long-term average, instantaneous limit, or narrative standard) that the 
Authority determines has caused, alone or in combination with other Discharges, Interference or Pass Through 
(including endangering the health of Authority personnel or the general public); (iv) any Discharge of a 
Pollutant that has caused imminent endangerment to human health, welfare or to the environment or has 
resulted in the Authority’s exercise of its emergency authority to halt or prevent such a Discharge; (v) failure 
to meet within 90 days after the scheduled date, a compliance schedule milestone contained in a Wastewater 
Discharge Permit or enforcement order, for starting construction, completing construction, or attaining final 
compliance; (vi) failure to provide within 45 days after the due date required reports such as baseline 
monitoring reports, 90-day compliance reports, periodic self-monitoring reports, and reports on compliance 
with compliance schedules; (vii) failure to accurately report noncompliance; or (viii) any other violation or 
group of violations that may include a violation of Best Management Practices which the Authority determines 
will adversely affect the operation or implementation of the Pretreatment program. 

6-43 Severability  

If any provision, paragraph, word, section or article of this Ordinance is invalidated by any court of competent 
jurisdiction, the remaining provisions, paragraphs, words, sections and chapters shall not be affected and shall 
continue in full force and effect. 

This Ordinance is effective September 1, 2021 

Page 43



28

CERTIFICATE 

The undersigned Mayor and Clerk of the Town Council of the Town of Dayton, Virginia, 
hereby certify that the foregoing constitutes a true and correct copy of an Amended Sewer Ordinance 
Adopting the Harrisonburg-Rockingham Regional Sewer Authority Operating Rules and 
Regulations, enacted by the Town Council at a meeting held on August 9, 2021.  A record of the 
roll-call vote by the Town Council is as follows: 

             NAME  AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT 
Cary Jackson, Mayor 
Dale Rodgers 
Bradford Dyjak 
Heidi Hoover 
Robert Seward 
Emily Estes 
Susan Mathias 

Date: August 9, 2021 

ATTEST: ______________________________       _______________________________ 
Clerk, Town Council of the     Mayor, Town of Dayton 
Town of Dayton, Virginia 

Page 44



Item 4.c. 

Appointment Actions 

Harrisonburg Rockingham Regional Sewer Authority 

Appoint Adam Meek as alternate member. (Angela A. Lawrence will remain as the primary member.) 

Economic Development Authority (EDA) 

There is one vacancy on the EDA. Two council members, Emily Estes and Susan Mathias, have 
expressed interest in the position.  

Recommend appointing a council member to EDA.  

Page 45



Item 5.a. 

Town Manager   Staff Report  July 2021 

Personnel 

Cost of living and merit increases took effect July 4, 2021 as budgeted.  

Public Works, Roads, Facilities 

1) Water Plant Upgrade:
a) A verbal report will be given at the meeting, as I am awaiting additional information.  
b) All necessary reports have been filed for an environmental impact categorical exclusion (CE), 

which is expected to be approved, saving us money.  

c) The engineer continues to work with the equipment manufacturer and surveyor regarding the 

property. We are expecting the survey and cost estimates very soon. 

2) Mill Street Project: 

a) The project is complete. We expect to receive an invoice from the county for 50% of the 

construction costs and final VDOT administration cost soon.  

b) After careful review, the final invoice was revised which resulted in a significant decrease in the 

bill. The project construction cost came in over the Town’s budget; however, it was within the 

VDOT budget. We do have available funds in appropriate areas of the budget. Components that 

related to sidewalks will be taken from the sidewalk budget line item 10-4410-820, portions 

related to water or sewer will be taken from the water & sewer contingency line item 20-4410-

990 as approved by council last month. The remaining construction cost will be taken from Mill 

Street Capital Funds 15-4910-830. 

c) The budget overrun was a result of misinformation or understanding regarding the number of 

water connections and other conditions discovered after excavation; additional paving needed 

to complete both lanes on Main Street; miscalculation of sidewalk needed in construction 

documents, miscalculation of handicapped ramps in construction documents; and adjustments 

made to driveway entrances.  

American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) 

Nothing to report at this time. 

Other 

1) Staff met with the City regarding several issues:  

a) Cook’s Creek Park: The City of Harrisonburg owns a portion of property that Cook’s Creek sits 

on. During the interim, it was believed that it was a small parcel and that the City would allow a 

transfer of the property to the Town. In fact, the City owns property on both sides of the creek 

including a good portion of Cook’s Creek Park and going up the creek toward the Mill. They are 

not interested in transferring the land for reasons related to DEQ and water issues. We have a 

long standing agreement with them that we can use the land for our park. Unless Council directs 

otherwise, I do not believe we need to change anything.  

Page 46



Town Manager Report 
July, 2021 

Page 2 

b) Water Connection near Walmart:  We continued our discussions with the City regarding tapping 

into their water line near Walmart for emergency use. We are researching a few outstanding 

issues, but should be able to move forward soon.   

c) Water Lines at Silver Lake: The City would like to tap into our water line at Silver Lake for 

emergency use. We are continuing those discussions and hope to bring back a proposal for all 

issues at the September or October Council Meeting.  

2) Yard Sale/Festival Ordinance: The committee met to discuss. The Chair will report out during 

committee reports. Further council discussion is needed before coming back to Council for a 

September vote.  

Items for Discussion and/or consideration 

Nothing at this time. 

Respectfully submitted,  

Angela A. Lawrence 

Page 47



Item 5.b. 

Staff Report 

Treasurer’s Office  July 2021 

Personnel: 

 Nothing to report.

Activity: 

 All quarterly taxes were filed on time. 

 Staff worked with Auditors who were on-site July 13th for preliminary field work.  They 
are scheduled to be on site September 13-15th, 2021 for final field work. 

 Utility bills greater than 60 and 90 days in arears totals $5,200:  One customer remains 
with a balance of over $1,800.  It is not determined that anyone on the over 90 day list is 
a result of the pandemic. 

 Late notices were mailed out with disconnect dates. Staff is prepared to work with 
anyone that may require payment plans to get accounts brought to current status if 
necessary. 

 Staff is working together as team member’s use allotted PTO during the summer months. 

Items for consideration: 

None 

Respectfully submitted, 

Susan Smith 

Page 48



Town of Dayton

Budget v. Actual Report

FY22 Period ending July 31, 2021

REVENUES Budget MTD YTD Variance % Rcvd EXPENDITURES Budget MTD YTD Variance % Used

General Fund

Property Taxes 122,500$    318$                   318$                     122,182$    0% General Government 578,074$    42,525$             42,525$                 535,549$        7%

Other Local Taxes 320,400$    37,368$              37,368$                283,032$    12% Public Safety 655,827$    72,578$             72,578$                 583,249$        11%

Permits, Privilage Fees & Licenses 500$            45$                     45$                       455$            9% Public Works 418,000$    26,000$             26,000$                 392,000$        6%

Fines & Forfeitures 21,200$       4,366$                4,366$                  16,834$       21% Parks, Rec & Culture 162,530$    6,241$               6,241$                   156,289$        4%

Rev. from use of money & prop. 2,750$         90$                     90$                       2,660$         3% Community Development 161,280$    10,273$             10,273$                 151,007$        6%

Charges for services 123,925$    472$                   472$                     123,453$    0% TOTAL GF EXPENDITURES 1,975,711$ 157,617$           157,617$                1,818,094$     8%

Other 107,000$    17,943$              17,943$                89,057$       17%

Recovered Costs 5,000$         -$                    -$                      5,000$         0% Capital Projects

State & Federal Funding 885,056$    25,690$              25,690$                859,366$    3% PD Equipment 52,688$       -$                    -$                        52,688$          0%

Transfer from Reserves 387,380$    -$                    -$                      387,380$    0% Greenway Project 15,000$       -$                    -$                        15,000$          0%

TOTAL GF REVENUES 1,975,711$ 86,292$              86,292$                1,889,419$ 4% King St. Extension 30,000$       -$                    -$                        30,000$          0%

Sign Program 100,000$    -$                    -$                        100,000$        0%

General Capital Fund Sidewalks 30,000$       -$                    -$                        30,000$          0%

Transfer from Reserves 367,688$    -$                    -$                      367,688$    0% Parks 50,000$       -$                    -$                        50,000$          0%

367,688$    -$                    -$                      367,688$    0% PW Vehicle 45,000$       -$                    -$                        45,000$          0%

Ventrac Mower 25,000$       -$                    -$                        25,000$          0%

Water & Sewer Capital Fund Municipal Key Card System 20,000$       -$                    -$                        20,000$          0%

Transfer from Water & Sewer Fund 1,266,424$ -$                    -$                      1,266,424$ 0% Water Line Extension 65,000$       -$                    -$                        65,000$          0%

Transfer from Reserves 640,576$    -$                    -$                      640,576$    0% Water Plant Equipment 1,600,000$ -$                    -$                        1,600,000$     0%

1,907,000$ -$                    -$                      1,907,000$ 0% Water Plant Land 10,000$       -$                    -$                        10,000$          0%

Water/Sewer Line Replacement 150,000$    -$                    -$                        150,000$        0%

Water & Sewer Fund Hydrants 12,000$       -$                    -$                        12,000$          0%

Charges for service 3,622,000$ 256$                   256$                     3,621,744$ 0% Mobile Generator 25,000$       -$                    -$                        25,000$          0%

W&S Conn fees 50,000$       -$                    -$                      50,000$       0% Service Truck 45,000$       -$                    -$                        45,000$          0%

Interest 50,000$       1,214$                1,214$                  48,786$       2% TOTAL CAPITAL PROJECTS 2,274,688$ -$                    -$                        2,274,688$     0%

Misc. -$             -$                    -$                      -$             

TOTAL W&S REVENUES 3,722,000$ 1,470$                1,470$                  3,720,530$ 0% Operating 691,080$    28,977$             28,977$                  662,103$        4%

HRRSA 1,739,496$ 153,971$           153,971$                1,585,525$     9%

Budget MTD YTD Variance Water Fund Contingency 25,000$       -$                    -$                        25,000$          0%

TOTAL REVENUES 7,972,399$ 87,762$              87,762$                7,884,637$ 1% TOTAL W&S EXPENDITURES 2,455,576$ 182,948$           182,948$                2,272,628$     7%

Transfer to Capital-Water & Sewer 1,266,424$ -$                   -$                        1,266,424$     0%

TOTAL CAPITAL TRANSFER 1,266,424$ -$                    -$                        1,266,424$     0%

Budget MTD YTD Variance

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 7,972,399$ 340,565$           340,565$                7,631,834$     4%

NET TOTAL -$             (252,803)$          (252,803)$               

Page 49



Item 5.c. 

Police Department Staff Report  July, 2021 

1. Personnel

Position Title # of Positions Filled Vacant 
Chief 1 1 0 
Lieutenant 1 1 0 
Patrol 3 3 0 

A.  Employee recognitions 

 The Police Department, Economic Development, Public Works, and Water Plant 
personnel have worked great with each other preparing for National Night Out and 
The Muddler.   

B. Training 

 All officers completed Active Shooter Training. 

 All officers reviewed and completed policy updates.   

2. Activity Report July 2021 

Calls for 
Service 

Incident  
Reports 

IBR 
Reports 

Arrests Crashes Citations Parking 
Violations 

512 500 8 2 4 41 0 

3. Project Updates    

 COPS Hiring Grant- Waiting on announcement 

 Accreditation is still ongoing.     

 Preparing the USDA grant.  Will be submitted in August. 

4. Upcoming Events  

 National Night Out, August 3.  

5. Items for Consideration 

 Take home vehicles for officers. 

o Consider allowing full-time police officers to take home police vehicles if 
they live within 14 miles of Town Hall and after signing an agreement that 
the vehicles will not be used for personal use of any type and meeting other 
eligibility criteria. The employment handbook has a section regarding town 
vehicles and equipment and the police department has an additional policy. 
The police committee recommends approval.  

 Proposal to consider an ordinance to prohibit any person to use an automobile for 
sleeping quarters. Refer to police committee if council deems appropriate. 

Respectfully submitted 

Justin Trout 

Page 50



Item 5.d. 

Public Works Staff Report 
July 2021 

I. Personnel: 

Position Title # of Positions Filled Vacant 
Public Works Supervisor 1 1 0 

Building & Grounds Technician 2 2 0 
Part Time/seasonal  1 2 0 

1. Hiring Update: None 
2. Employee Recognitions:  None 

II. Reports: 

 VDOT approved the adjustments that were made on the Mill Street Project 
and now we can close the project out. 

 Began fixing and putting together the obstacles for The Muddler.  This year 
HPD has helped us along the way getting this event setup.   

 Trimmed bushes and added gravel to the Town’s alleyways. 
 Had Rockingham County Regional Jail bring inmates in to help pick up 

trash on route 42 and other roadways through Town.  
 Installed one new water connection for 710 Mason Street.     

Respectfully submitted, 

Adam Meek 

Page 51



Item 5.e. 

     Water Department Staff Report  
          July 2021 

I. Personnel 

Position Title # of Positions Filled Vacant 
Lead Water Treatment Operator 1 1 0 
P/T- Water Treatment Operator 1 1 0 

Water Plant Operator 1 1 0 

II. Reports 

 Water plant treated 53.3 million gallons of water in the month of July. 

 Town purchased 1.916 million gallons of water from Rockingham County in July.   

 Used 32,000 gallons from Silver Lake due to issues with Well 2. 

 Two new meters installed in July.  

 Continued Muddler prep. 

 Sprayed weeds: Main St., High St., College St., Mill St., Eastview St., Thompson St., Cascade 

Dr., Stonecroft Dr., Ramsey Dr., Sunset Park, and Keswick Circle. 

 Continued troubleshooting our feed pump issues; waiting to hear back from SLM. 

 Changed actuator and valve on CMF 1. 

 Received 6 new meter bodies.  Waiting on shipment of 48 new registers.  

III. Items for Consideration: None 

Respectfully submitted, 

Jennifer Reppe  

Page 52



Item 5.f. 

Community Development Staff Report 

July 2021 

1. Planning and Zoning  

a. Two (2) Zoning Permits were issued. 

b. One (1) Certificate of Occupancy was requested and completed. 

c. Continue to review and discuss potential Home Occupations Permits and Short-Term Rental 

Permits.  

d. Continued to monitor and site various Code violations, including grass & weeds, trash and 

dumpster violations with noticeable improvements. 

e. The HRMPO-TAC meeting for July was cancelled.  The August meeting will be held in-

person on August 5th.   

f. Attended a Pre-Application Meeting for a Special Use Request for an expansion at the 

Rockingham Cooperative Dayton Mill via Zoom with Rockingham County Community 

Development.   

g. The Planning Commissioners met to review and propose a Community Input Survey to 

release the first week of October as the kickoff to the 2022 Comp Plan Review.  The Survey 

will also be reviewed by the appropriate Council Committees and be finalized in August to 

allow staff time to format and prepare for distribution in time for the Fall Newsletter and 

Dayton Days. 

h. Registered for the VAZO CZA exams in October. 

2. Items for Consideration— None. 

Respectfully submitted,  

Community Development Coordinator

Page 53



Item 5.g. 

Economic Development Staff Report 

July 2021 

Business Recruitment, Retention and Relationships 

 July business newsletter analytics:

 42 opens

 Top links clicked:

1. Best of the Valley

2. Business Conversation Series

3. Business Directory

 August business e-newsletter was sent out on 8/2. 

 The revised Façade Enhancement Grant is now available on the Town’s website. 

 The Business Conversation Series will resume on Thursday, August 12. It will be at Town Hall in 

the Council Chambers at 6:15.  Topics covered at the first meeting will include an update on the 

wayfinding sign program, the revised façade enhancement grant, getting your business on the 

Town directory, updates on the Town's involvement with Virginia Main Street, and much more! 

Refreshments will be provided.

Events 

 The July 10 Summer Concert with Kelly May Brown was attended by approx. 130 people. The 

next concert will be after The Muddler on August 7 with Thieves of Burden. Scotty’s Italian Ice 

will be on site. The last concert will be on August 28 with Big City Band. 

 Dayton Days is at full capacity. Vendors are now being placed on a waitlist.  

 The Muddler 

o HUGE thank you to public works for all of their work getting the obstacles set up – there 

will be over 30 obstacles this year. 

o There are  522 people registered for the event as of 8/3/21 

o Event sponsors: Daikin, PWD, Superior Concrete, Johnson Funeral Home, Shenandoah 

Valley Electric Co-op  

o Scotty’s Italian Ice and Cosmic BBQ will be selling food at Dove Park during the event. 

Marketing 

 The Town placed an ad in the Daily News-Record in support of local business for the Dayton 

edition of their shop local series. 

 July website analytics 

o The website had 3,660 page views and 2,436 users 

Page 54



Item 5.g. 

Social Media   

 The Town’s Facebook page had a people reach of 6,651 (↓12%) and a post engagement of 867 

(↓48%)  

 Sponsored ads were purchased through Facebook to promote The Muddler.  

 Event engagement: 

o Dayton Days: 4.6K  people responded as either “interested” or “going” 

Other  

 Attended Blueprint Virginia 2030 Regional Tour: GO Virginia Region 8 (virtual). 

 Submitted grant application for the Virginia Statewide Business District Resurgence Grant. Based 
on guidance from the Community & Economic Development Committee it was decided to focus 
the grant application on integrative wayfinding technologies to go along with the new vehicular 
signage program. This will also incorporate the walking tour and the existing historical markers. 
A new promotional video of Town was incorporated into the grant application as well.  

 Wayfinding project – Frazier Associates will present their first draft of designs to the wayfinding 

task group mid-August.

Items for consideration or discussion:  

 None 

Respectfully submitted,  

Meggie Roche 
Meggie Roche  

Page 55




